
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

  

Meeting CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.30 pm on Wednesday, 10 March 2021 
 
Location Remote Meeting using Microsoft Teams 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services 01530 454 512 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item  Pages 

 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should make clear the nature of that interest 
and whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

 To receive questions from members of the public under rule no.10 of the 
Council Procedure Rules. The procedure rule provides that members of the 
public may ask any question on any matter in relation to which the Council has 
powers or duties which affect the District, provided that three clear days’ notice 
in writing has been given to the Head of Legal and Support Services. 
 

 

4.  MINUTES  
 

 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2021. 
 

3 - 10 

5.  ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN THE FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 

 - Report of the Strategic Director 
 
- To consider any items to be included in the work programme. The plan of 

forthcoming Cabinet decisions and the current work programme are 
attached for information. 

 

11 - 28 

6.  2020/21 QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE REPORTS  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Human Resources and Organisational Develpment 
 

29 - 88 

 
 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


Circulation:  
 
Councillor R Boam (Chairman) 
Councillor J Hoult (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor E G C Allman 
Councillor A J Bridgen 
Councillor G Hoult 
Councillor R Johnson 
Councillor S Sheahan 
Councillor N Smith 
Councillor M B Wyatt 
Vacant 



42 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in the Remote 
Meeting using Microsoft Teams on WEDNESDAY, 6 JANUARY 2021  
 
Present:  Councillor R Boam (Chairman) 
 
Councillors D Bigby (Substitute for Councillor R Johnson), A J Bridgen, G Hoult, J Hoult, 
S Sheahan, N Smith and M B Wyatt  

 
Portfolio Holders: Councillors R D Bayliss and N J Rushton 
 
Officers:  Mr A Barton, Mrs T Bingham, Mr T Delaney, M D'Oyly-Watkins, Mr C Lambert, 
Mrs R Wallace and Miss E Warhurst 
 

17. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors E Allman, R Johnson and D Tebbutt. 
 

18. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
Councillor S Sheahan declared a non-pecuniary interest in item 7 – Draft General Fund 
and Special Expenses Revenue Budget with regard to any reference to HS2 due to the 
location of his home in relation to the route.  If any verbal reference was made to it in the 
meeting, he would declare a pecuniary interest and leave the meeting. 
 

19. PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
None 
 

20. MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2020. 
 
It was moved by Councillor N Smith, seconded by Councillor J Hoult and by affirmation of 
the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2020 be approved as a correct record. 
 

21. ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN THE FUTURE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
The Chairman referred Members to the Committees Work Programme and the Cabinet’s 
Executive Decision Notice. 
 
A request was made for an item in relation to the Future High Street Fund including a 
review, as well as reasons the bid was unsuccessful.  Members were informed that this 
was in progress and would be taken to the Community Scrutiny Committee.  On the 
conclusion of a discussion, a Member requested that officers considered carefully which 
Committee the matter would be taken to, especially as the work programme for the 
Corporate Scrutiny Committee was lighter. 
 
By affirmation of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
a) The future work programme be received and noted. 

3

Agenda Item 4.



43 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

 
b) An item regarding the Future High Street Fund be added to the most appropriate 

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme. 
 

22. CORPORATE DISPOSAL POLICY 
 
The Head of Housing presented the report to Members. 
 
Councillor R D Bayliss, as Housing and Customer Services Portfolio Holder, spoke in 
support of the report. 
 
During discussion a concern was raised that the previous policy document was not 
available for comparison purposes and therefore a request for deferral was made to allow 
Members to review both documents simultaneously.  The Strategic Director assured 
Members that this document now reflected the many changes to the constitution that had 
occurred since the policy was last reviewed, and included everything from the previous 
policy, plus improvements.  He explained that it would not have been constructive to show 
comparison documents as the policy had been totally revised, he therefore advised 
Members against deferral.    
 
A further debate was held on the suggested deferral of the item and by a majority, it was 
concluded that the item would remain on the agenda. 
 
During discussion, the following comments were made by Members: 
 
Concerns were raised regarding the focus of the policy to gain income.  It was felt that as 
a public body the primary focus of the Council was not to make money but to serve the 
community.   
 
Concerns were raised in relation to the disposals of community assets and HRA assets as 
it was felt that the criteria listed was not strict enough.  It meant that practically anything 
could be sold for any reason and this wold not be beneficial to the communities. 
 
A comment was raised that paragraph 2.10 of the policy should be reconsidered as it was 
the opinion that it did not make clear how to identify surplus or under used land/property 
assets. 
 
The Corporate Portfolio Holder took on board the comments made but overall felt that the 
policy was sound and would be reporting as such to Cabinet. 
 
In response to the comments made, the Head of Housing explained that this policy would 
be considered alongside the Disposals Policy, particularly when considering the assets of 
community value.  In relation to the criteria within the policy, Members were informed that 
this was felt the most flexible approach for the Council, the majority of which were brought 
forward from the previous policy.   
 
In response to further questions, the Head of Housing explained that there were several 
source documents used to form the structure of the policy, but it was a document in its 
own right which had evolved over some time.  Also, the thresholds for disposals had been 
amended to align with the constitution, this could be revisited in the future but would 
involve a subsequent process as part of a constitutional review.  Finally, the policy did not 
include a reference to the external valuer as commercial and third-party valuers were now 
used, these are totally independent from the in-house team.   
 
The Chairman thanked Members for their input and confirmed all comments would be 
provided to Cabinet when considering the report. 

4



44 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

23. DRAFT GENERAL FUND AND SPECIAL EXPENSES REVENUE BUDGET 
 
The Head of Finance presented the balanced budget proposals.  She updated Members 
that further to the publication of the report additional funding had been announced via the 
draft local government finance settlement, early calculations expected the amount to be in 
the region of £700,000, which was very positive news for the authority.   
 
Councillor N J Rushton, as Corporate Portfolio Holder, spoke in support of the report.  He 
commented on the difficulties presented to the authority this year with running the budget 
and thanked the Head of Finance and her team for all the work undertaken, especially 
with the management of the grants given in response to the Covid-19 measures. 
 
Councillor M B Wyatt made the following comments: 
 
- The proposed additional funds for air quality monitoring was welcomed. 

 
- Concerns were raised regarding the proposed increase in council tax for the Coalville 

special expense area, which equated to approximately eight percent.  Councillor M B 
Wyatt was disappointed that more detail was not included and that nothing had been 
presented to the Coalville Special Expenses Working Party.   It was explained that 
parish precepts increased across the district at varying levels and in monetary terms it 
was usually less than what it seemed in the percentage.   It was agreed that more 
detail would be made available to Cllr Wyatt outside of the meeting for the proposed 
increase. 

 
The following responses were given to questions from Councillor S Sheahan: 
 
- A breakdown of the additional recharges to the Housing Revenue Account and Special 

Expenses to generate a saving to the General Fund of £78,000, to be provided outside 
of the meeting. 
 

- Further information as to the reason for the proposed budget increase for the Pest 
Control Service be provided outside of the meeting. 

 
- The assumption had been made that the £15,000 allocation for fly tipping surveillance 

cameras was ongoing, the Head of Finance would go back to the service area to 
confirm if it should be a one-off allocation only. 

 
The following responses were given to questions from Councillor D Bigby: 
 
- In relation to the reduction in car park income as detailed at table 1.15 of the appendix, 

it was agreed for further explanation to be provided by the service area outside of the 
meeting. 
 

- In relation to the pay award freeze for staff, it was explained that it was a national 
policy position and that North West Leicestershire District Council were part of 
collective negotiations nationally on the matter.  It was not a political decision taken 
locally.   

 
- It was confirmed that the unspent balance of the climate emergency funding one-off 

allocation intended to be spent in the current financial year, would be carried forward to 
the next financial year.  Funds so far had been spent on staffing and developing the 
working budget.  

 
- The Head of Finance was confident that the Journey to Self Sufficiency proposals were 

achievable due to the good position of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy outlook.  If 

5



45 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

a change was announced to the New Homes Bonus, then adjustments might have to 
be made. 

 
The Chairman referred to the great work being undertaken by the volunteer litter 
collecting groups in the rural areas of the District, one of which calls themselves ‘The 
Litter Wombles’.  He asked if Cabinet would consider providing some paid support for 
these groups as it would have a positive impact on the communities.  The Corporate 
Portfolio Holder concurred with the Chairman and felt that some part-time support would 
really make a difference in the rural communities.  He was happy to take the suggestion 
to Cabinet when it considered the budget proposals.   
 
It was moved by Councillor J Hoult, seconded by Councillor G Hoult and by affirmation of 
the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Comments made by the Committee be provided to Cabinet when it considers the report at 
its meeting on 2 February 2021. 
 
 
Councillor M B Wyatt left the meeting during the discussion of the item. 
 
Councillor N Smith left the meeting at the conclusion of the item. 
 

24. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET PROPOSALS 
 
The Strategic Finance Manager presented the report to Members. 
 
Councillor N J Rushton, as Corporate Portfolio Holder, spoke in support of the report. 
 
Councillor D Bigby expressed concerns for the proposed increase of rents for tenants but 
reduction in the repairs budget.  Although the report explained that the proposed reduction 
was due to lack of demand, he felt it was more likely because of the current Covid-19 
climate and the issues in accessing properties.  The Strategic Finance Manager reported 
that the reduction in the repairs budget was in response to a lower expenditure over 
several years due to fewer routine repairs because of the amount of work being 
completed under the decent homes programme.  The Head of Housing informed 
Members that all tenants had been contacted to inquire if they had repairs that had not 
been reported due to the Covid-19 climate but would need completing next year.  The 
result was a very small number of repairs.  He went on to assure Members that the repairs 
budget proposals had been through rigorous consideration and was a reflection on the 
changes to the housing stock. 
 
In response to a further comment from Councillor D Bigby, the Head of Housing assured 
Members that it was categorically not the policy of the Council to refuse repairs due to 
lack of budget, if a repair was needed in a property it would definitely be undertaken.   
 
In response to a question regarding the lack of painting programme proposals, the Head 
of Housing acknowledged that there was painting required for several properties but the 
decision was taken to not use the funds in this financial year, however, the budget would 
be available for the programme in the 2022/23 financial year.    
 
It was moved by Councillor G Hoult, seconded by Councillor J Hoult and by affirmation of 
the meeting it was 
 
 

6



46 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Comments made by the Committee be provided to Cabinet when it considers the report at 
its meeting on 2 February 2021. 
 

25. 2021/22 - 2025/26 DRAFT CAPITAL PROGRAMMES 
 
The Head of Finance presented the report to Members.  She drew attention to two 
amendments required at appendix b in relation to off street parking prior to consideration 
by Cabinet.  The first is the current budget figure in which should state £628,00 and 
secondly, officers would be looking further into the unspent budget provision to be carried 
forward into future financial years. 
 
Councillor N J Rushton, as Corporate Portfolio Holder, spoke in support of the report.  He 
added that the capital programmes were something to be proud of and were only 
achievable due to the Council’s aspirations. 
 
A discussion was had regarding the acquisition of sites in accordance with the new 
housing supply section as detailed in the table at appendix b.  Councillor S Sheahan 
asked for further clarification on the imbalances in relation to the acquisitions of sites and 
units.  As a result, the Head of Housing agreed to provide a further report to the 
Committee detailing the different funding streams and acquisitions being used to improve 
the housing stock.  He also agreed to provide a summary of the current cost of acquiring 
properties in the various ways in comparison to building them to Councillor S Sheahan 
prior to consideration of the item by Cabinet. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor S Sheahan, the Head of Housing explained that 
due to the slow movement of the off street parking schemes in the district, the budget has 
been realigned and Members were assured that the funds allocated would not be lost but 
carried forward to the next financial year.   
 
The Head of Finance also assured Members that each underspend would be individually 
assessed to ensure it could be delivered.  She added that in some cases, schemes might 
not have a carry forward in one financial year but over five years.  In response to a 
question from Councillor D Bigby, the Head of Finance confirmed that the funds allocated 
for electric charging points would be carried forward. 
 
The following responses were given to questions from Councillor D Bigby: 
 
- In relation to the failure of the Future High Street Fund Bid, the Corporate Portfolio 

Holder confirmed that he was still committed to the regeneration of Coalville and the 
funds allocated for this would remain. 
 

- The Corporate Portfolio Holder confirmed that he remained committed to reducing the 
Council’s carbon footprint and agreed that greener options should be considered as 
part of the fleet replacement programme.  However, he highlighted that the current 
vehicles available were not suitable for several reasons.  The Head of Housing 
concurred that there were challenges with electric fleet vehicles such as range time 
and load capacity which made it difficult to have a fully electric fleet, but technology 
was moving very quickly which helped.  

 
- The Corporate Portfolio Holder confirmed that the current plan was to pay the HRA 

debt off as scheduled but this was always subject to change. 

 
- In relation to the Green Homes Grant Scheme, the Head of Housing confirmed that the 

bid was submitted prior to Christmas and a response was expected by the end of 

7



47 
 
 

Chairman’s initials 

January.  He explained that the decision was taken to submit a lower bid based on 
solid and reliable data to increase the success rate, there would be more opportunities 
to bid for further funding going forward.   

 
- In relation to the wider green homes work, the Head of Housing reported that it was 

due to be completed by the target date and would form part of the new Asset 
Management Strategy being considered by Scrutiny later in the year.  

 
It was moved by Councillor J Hoult, seconded by Councillor G Hoult and by affirmation of 
the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Comments made by the Committee be provided to Cabinet when it considers the report at 
its meeting on 2 February 2021. 
 

26. 2021/22 CAPITAL STRATEGY 
 
The Head of Finance presented the report to Members. 
 
Councillor N J Rushton, as Corporate Portfolio Holder, spoke in support of the report. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor D Bigby, the Strategic Finance Manager stated 
that there were currently 217 council homes forecasted to be sold under the Right to Buy 
Scheme over the next five years. 
 
In response to a question in relation to Right to Buy Capital Receipts from Councillor D 
Bigby, the Head of Finance explained that due to the current Covid-19 climate, 
dispensations had been granted by national government to provide more time to spend 
them.  The Strategic Finance Manger also informed Members that the Capital Receipts 
were continuously monitored to ensure the money was not lost.  The Head of Housing 
added that several properties have been acquired in the last few years using capital 
receipts. 
 
It was moved by Councillor J Hoult, seconded by Councillor G Hoult and by affirmation of 
the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Comments made by the Committee be provided to Cabinet when it considers the report at 
its meeting on 2 February 2021. 
 

27. DRAFT INVESTMENT STRATEGY - SERVICE AND COMMERCIAL 2021/22 
 
The Head of Finance Presented the report to Members. 
 
Councillor N J Rushton, as Corporate Portfolio Holder, spoke in support of the report. 
 
It was moved by Councillor G Hoult, seconded by Councillor J Hoult and by affirmation of 
the meeting it was 
 

8



48 
 
 

Chairman’s signature 

RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Comments made by the Committee be provided to Cabinet when it considers the report at 
its meeting on 2 February 2021. 
 

28. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 2021/22-2023/24 
 
The Head of Finance presented the report to Members. 
 
Councillor N J Rushton, as Corporate Portfolio Holder, spoke in support of the report and 
thanked the Finance Team for the hard work undertaken. 
 
It was moved by Councillor S Sheahan, seconded by Councillor D Bigby and by 
affirmation of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Comments made by the Committee be provided to Cabinet when it considers the report at 
its meeting on 2 February 2021. 
 
Councillor M B Wyatt entered the meeting at 6.43pm and left the meeting at 7.21pm. 
 
Councillor N Smith left the meeting at 7.52pm. 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 9.05 pm 
 

 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



7  

 

 
 

NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – WEDNESDAY, 
10 MARCH 2021 

 

 
Title of Report FUTURE WORK PROGRAMMES 

Presented by Strategic Director of Place 

Background Papers Agenda, reports and minutes of the 
Scrutiny Cross Party Working Group, 
Strategy Group and the Community 
Scrutiny Committee 

Public Report: 
Yes 

Financial Implications None identified at this stage 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Legal Implications None identified at this stage 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 

Resource implications are identified in paragraph 4.3 of the 
report 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 

Reason Agenda Item 
Submitted to Scrutiny 
Committee 

To provide an update on the position in relation to the scrutiny 
function following the findings of the corporate peer review last 
year; and to seek support on some proposals moving forward. 
This report is being considered by both Scrutiny Committees. 

Recommendations (1) THAT THE ACTION PLAN OF THE SCRUTINY CROSS 
PARTY SCRUTINY WORKING GROUP BE NOTED; 

 

(2) THAT THE PROPOSED RESOURCE SOLUTION, AS SET 
OUT IN PARAGRAPH 4.3 BE SUPPORTED, 

 

(3) THAT THE PROPOSED SCRUTINY PRINCIPLES, AS SET 
OUT IN PARAGRAPH 5.1 BE SUPPORTED, 

 

(4) THAT THE PROCESS FOR ANNUAL REPORTING AS SET 
OUT IN PARAGRAPH 6.2 BE SUPPORTED. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 A corporate peer review which was undertaken early last year concluded the following in 
relation to the scrutiny function:- “Continue to improve the scrutiny function. Make it more 
robust and be seen to be more robust. Explore good practice regarding scrutiny, such as 
training and make better use of working groups, establishing a forward looking work 
programme and involve scrutiny early in the decision making progress. This is an area 
where there has been significant improvement over the last two years with the development 
of two scrutiny committees with an enhanced number of meetings, however there is 
recognition that the council needs to support members in understanding their role and 
maximising the benefits effective scrutiny can bring to the council”. 

11

Agenda Item 5.



8  

1.2 A Cross Party Working Group was established in order to manage this piece of work. 
 

The membership of the Group is as follows:- 
 

• Councillor Robert Ashman, Deputy Leader 
• Councillor Dan Harrison, Conservative 
• Councillor Nigel Smith, Conservative 
• Councillor Terri Eynon, Labour 
• Councillor Sean Sheahan, Labour 
• Councillor Tony Saffell, Independent 

 

2. ACTION PLAN 
 

2.1 The Scrutiny Cross Party Working Group has met a number of times and undertaken 
tasks as shown in the attached Action Plan (Appendix A). This Plan is a live document 
which is continually monitored and updated. 

 
2.2 Some of the actions relate to the management of reports and agenda items and how 

these may be resourced. With that in mind, a piece of work was undertaken to 
establish the different categories of scrutiny items and the level of resource required 
for each of those categories. 

 
2.3 It was felt that some of the issues identified could be addressed through training. 

 

3. SCRUTINY TRAINING 

 
3.1 The Centre for Governance & Scrutiny (CfGS) was invited to undertake a number of 

training sessions to help Members better understand the role of scrutiny and to enhance 
their skills to enable their participation. 

 
3.2 CfGS surveyed all Members to gain a better understanding of their views on 

scrutiny and, following its findings, compiled the following training programme 
 

 Thurs 5 November, 6pm: Scrutiny Workshop (all members) 
 

 Wed 2 December, 5.30pm: Scrutiny Essentials and Questioning Skills (open to 
all members) 

 

 Wed 16 December, 5.30pm: Work Programming (aimed at scrutiny members) 
 

 Tues 12 January, 6pm following cabinet: Getting the most from Scrutiny for Cabinet 
Members (for Cabinet Members) 

 

 Thu 21 January, 5.30pm: Chairing and Leading Scrutiny (aimed at Chairs & 
Deputy Chairs) – postponed and new date to be confirmed. 

 
4. SCRUTINY CATEGORIES 

 
4.1 The items which have been considered by both the Scrutiny Committee over the past 12 

months have been analysed into three different categories:- 
 
 

Category Type of Report No. of items over 
past 12 months 

1 - Noting The report is for noting. 11 

12



9  

2 - Consultation The report is feeding into an existing corporate 
document or policy before consideration by 
Cabinet/Council (example CDP, Budget etc) and 
scrutiny is its route through 

19 

3 - Investigation The report has been requested by the Committee for 
inclusion on its work plan which requires an additional 
report and/or the establishment of a task and finish 
group 

4 

 

4.2 This analysis was helpful as it enabled officers to consider the following: 
 

• Noting reports – Scrutiny’s role is to add value and contribute to the process. Noting 
reports is not best practice in any committee setting and in particular in Scrutiny 
where it can leave the committee unclear on what it is being asked to do or how 
it can add value. This was a concern echoed by the CfCG. Therefore, Directors will 
ensure that fewer “noting reports” are brought forward and it suggested that the 
Scrutiny Committees adopt a series of scrutiny principles which will assist the relevant 
Chairs when considering their respective work plans. 

 
• Resources - The resources to support scrutiny were considered by the working 

group. There was a desire from the working group for the current arrangements of 
Directors’ sponsorship of each Committee should continue, to ensure that 
support/ownership was embedded at a senior level (Directors/Heads of Service). The 
working group asked that the Corporate, Democratic Services resource requirement be 
kept under review pending the further work on the action plan. 

 
4.3 The findings conclude that only 11% of the number of items considered by the 

Scrutiny Committees may require additional resources. It is proposed therefore that the 
Directors, in consultation with the Democratic Services Team Manager, meet informally 
following requests under category 3 to discuss the additional resource requirements and, 
where it is considered an item requires independent and impartial advice and/or additional 
administration support outside of Democratic Services, that this be sourced externally from 
East Midlands Council who have agreed to send a proposal on how they may be able 
assist in this regard. 

 

5. SCRUTINY PRINCIPLES 
 

5.1 The following principles based approach for identifying and managing the scrutiny workplan 
are proposed. These principles are based on “A councillors workbook on Scrutiny” by the 
LGA 2017. 

 

Identify Issues for consideration by Scrutiny 

 

 Consulting with members of Scrutiny Committees, senior officers, Cabinet members – 
horizon scanning on policy development 

 Looking at the corporate priorities, Council Delivery Plan and Cabinet Forward plan – 
identify key issues/topics for investigation/inquiry 

 Considering events and decisions in the Council’s calendar which could require an 
input/consultation via scrutiny – eg budget setting, CDP development 

 Considering requests from members – eg via another forum or scoping report 
submitted 

 Evaluating the Council’s performance – eg quarterly reports, end of year reports, 
reviewing success of a particular scheme or initiative 

 Reviewing any follow up work required after previous scrutiny work 

13



10  

Prioritise the potential list of scrutiny topics based on factors including 

 

 the resources required to deliver it (from members, offices and financially) 

 the value and level of impact which could be achieved 

 link to the council’s priorities 

 whether it is a regular recurring item which requires consideration before Cabinet/ 
Council approval 

 consideration of the guidance for selecting scrutiny topics 
 

Scope and plan 
 

 Decide which scrutiny topics/work will be done each year 

 Add to the work programme for each year to ensure manageable agendas for each 
meeting 

 Consider allowing some scrutiny time for ad hoc requests which arise mid year 

 Ensure that items on the work programme are clearly scoped, with clear objectives 
for the committee and officers (use scoping form where possible) 

 

Recommend (if appropriate) based on the following 

 

 Being specific about the recommendations 

 Ensure that they are evidence based and realistic 

 Focus on measurable outcomes (where appropriate) 

 Address a specific person or group 

 Be realistic about any financing requirements 

 Develop in partnership with the executive, council officers and partners 
 

Respond – Cabinet should respond to recommendations made by Scrutiny within 2 

months. The response should be: 
 

 A commitment to deliver the measure within the timescale set out 

 A commitment to be held to account on that delivery in 6 months or years time 

 Where it is not proposed that a recommendation be accepted, the provision of 
substantive reasons as to why not 

 Can be given by way of Cabinet report/meeting considering the recommendations 
 

Review and evaluate 

 Regularly review progress and evaluate outcomes eg at Directors/Chairs meetings 

 Produce an annual report which demonstrates the work the Committees have done 
and their impact 

 

Guidance for selecting scrutiny topics: 
 
 

Topics are suitable for Scrutiny when Topics are not suitable for Scrutiny when 

Scrutiny could have an impact and add 
value 

The issue is already being addressed 
elsewhere and change is imminent 

The topic is of high local importance and 
reflects the concerns of local people 

The topic would be better addressed 
elsewhere (and will be referred there) 

The resources are available that would be 
required to conduct the review – staff and 
budget 

Scrutiny involvement would have limited or 
no impact on outcomes 

It avoids duplication of work elsewhere The topic would be sub-judice or prejudicial 
to the councils interests 

14



11  

The issues is one that the committee can 
realistically influence 

The topic is too broad to make a review 
realistic 

The issue is related to an area where the 
council or one of its partners is not 
performing well 

New legislation or guidance relating to the 
topic is expected in the next year 

The issue is relevant to all or a large part 
of the local area 

The topic area is currently subject to 
inspection or has recently undergone 
substantial change 

The review would be in the council’s 
interests 

 

 
 

6. ANNUAL REPORT 

 
6.1 The Working Group agreed that there should be an annual report on scrutiny comprising 

the work it had undertaken and the value this had added to the decision making. 
 

6.2 The Scrutiny Annual Report will be drafted by the Democratic Services Team Manager 
and signed off by the Directors in consultation with the Chairs of the respective Scrutiny 
Committees. The Annual Report will be submitted to the first meeting of both the 
Community and the Corporate Scrutiny Committee of the civic year and will reflect on the 
work of the Committees over the previous 12 months and how it has contributed to the 
decisions made during the year, and it will look ahead to the Scrutiny Committees’ 
forthcoming programme of works; before being ratified by full Council. 

 
Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 

Policy Considerations: None 

Safeguarding: None identified 

Equalities/Diversity: None identified 

Customer Impact: None identified 

Economic & Social Impact: None identified 

Environment & Climate Change: None identified 

Consultation/Community 
Engagement: 

Scrutiny Cross Party Working Group, Strategy Group and 
both the Community and Corporate Scrutiny Committees. 

Risks: None identified 

Officer Contact James Arnold 
Strategic Director of Place 
James.arnold@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

15

mailto:James.arnold@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

1
2
 

Appendix 1 

Action Plan - The aim of this Action plan is to address the recommendation of the Peer Team in relation to Scrutiny following the recent Corporate Peer 

Review as follows:- 
 

“Continue to improve the scrutiny function. Make it more robust and be seen to be more robust. Explore good practice regarding scrutiny, such as 

training and make better use of working groups, establishing a forward looking work programme and involve scrutiny early in the decision making 

progress. This is an area where there has been significant improvement over the last two years with the development of two scrutiny committees with 

an enhanced number of meetings, however there is recognition that the council needs to support members in understanding their role and maximising 

the benefits effective scrutiny can bring to the council”. 
 

Ref Recommendations Actions By Change to 
Constitution? 

STATUS 

1 Establish a cross party working group  Cross party working group to be established to oversee actions and improvements to 

the scrutiny function. 

 Terms of reference to be agreed 

AGREED – 

(1) That the Working Group Terms of Reference be endorsed 

(2) That monthly meetings be held with a 6 month review meeting thereafter. 

(3) That the work of the Group be reported to Council. 

EW 

ML 

No 

No 

COMPLETED 

COMPLETED 

2 Develop training and support programme 
for members and chairs 

 Training programme to be developed to support members and enhance understanding 

of members’ roles and responsibility in scrutiny and policy development – to include a 

mock meeting. 

 Questionnaire identifying training needs to be sent and findings reported back to next 

meeting. Ring round to every non responding member by the next meeting. 

 Comparison training programme be obtained from the LGA and reported back to next 

meeting. 

 Members to attend a meeting at another Authority. 

AGREED 

(1) Visit to be arranged after COVID 19 

All 
 
 

ML 

RW 

RW 

No 
 

 
No 

No 

No 

IN PROGRESS 
 
 

COMPLETED 

COMPLETED 

POSTPONED 

16



 

1
3

 

  
(2) Training programme to be delivered by CfGS 

   

3 Review level of officer support for scrutiny 
function 

 Agree on level of support required – administration or management of function? 

 Consider how the support to scrutiny will be resourced. 

AGREED – That the level of support afforded to the scrutiny function be kept under 
review 

All 

All 

No 

No 

TO BE KEPT 
UNDER 
REVIEW 

4 Develop forward looking work programme 
for Corporate and Community Scrutiny 

 Change report templates to identify the role of scrutiny for each issue and encourage 

report authors to consider outcomes. 

 Move work programme agenda item to front of agenda 

 Reintroduce the Annual Report to demonstrate the value and achievements of 

scrutiny 

 Ensure it is clear why an item is/is not going to scrutiny 

 Invite views and comments from Scrutiny Members 

AGREED – 

(1) That a new report template be introduced with immediate effect 

(2) That the Annual Report on Scrutiny be reinstated. 

(3) That the work programme agenda item be moved to the front of the agenda 

with immediate effect 

(4) EDN to be updated with an additional column with reasons why an item is/is not 

going to Scrutiny 

(5) Invites be sent ahead of each scrutiny meeting seeking views on specific issues 

as part of a pre-briefing process. 

ML 

 
ML 

JA/AB 

RW 

ML 

No 

 
No 

No 

No 

No 

COMPLETED 
 

COMPLETED 
 

COMPLETED 

COMPLETED 
COMPLETED 

5 Establish a co-ordinating body with cross- 
party involvement, such as a scrutiny 
commission. 

 Consider how the work of the Scrutiny Committees can be co-ordinated 

 Look into structure of Scrutiny and the committee carrying out the audit function in 

similar authorities and report back to next meeting 

AGREED 

(1) That a joint meeting of directors and scrutiny chairs be held twice a year to include 

those related to Audit and Governance 

(2) That it was not appropriate to have Audit and Governance as a scrutiny function but 

AB/JA 

EW 

No 

No 

COMPLETED 

COMPLETED 

 

17



 

1
4
 

  to co-ordinate as above.    

6 Understanding scrutiny  Articles to be included in blogs and staff bulletins 

 Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) to carry out a survey of all key parties and 

publish report 

 Issues addressed in the report to be picked up as part of the training package 

JA/AB 

CfGS 

 
CfGS 

No 

No 

 
No 

ONGOING 
COMPLETED 

 
IN PROGRESS 

 

ISSUES ADDRESSED IN REPORT BY CfGS AS REFERENCED IN PARAGRAPH 6 
 
 
 

a Need clarity around the process/responsibility 

for helping scrutiny scope out their objectives 

at the start of the year, looking at evidence 

such as CDP, emerging policy issues, horizon 

scanning etc – decide the objectives/priorities 

and then build the forward plan from there. 

To be picked up by Directors at their joint meetings and briefings which have now 

been set up following a recommendation from the Working Group – Paragraph 5 

above refers 

JA/AB No IN PROGRESS 

b Refine the scoping process so that key priority 

reports are going and develop confidence in 

deciding what should go and what shouldn’t. 

Outlined in Strategy Group report for consideration on 9 December 2020 and the 

Community and Corporate Scrutiny Committees on 10 February and 10 March 

respectively. 

JA/AB No IN PROGRESS 

c Having a clear round up and annual reporting 

process. 

Outlined in Strategy Group report for consideration on 9 December 2020 and the 

Community and Corporate Scrutiny Committees on 10 February and 10 March 

respectively. 

JA/AB No IN PROGRESS 

d Move work programme to the front of the 

agenda 

Addressed following a recommendation from the Working Group – Paragraph 4 

above refers. 

ML No COMPLETED 

e Prioritise agenda content and have shorter 

agendas 

Outlined in Strategy Group report for consideration on 9 December 2020 and the 

Community and Corporate Scrutiny Committees on 10 February and 10 March 

JA/AB No IN PROGRESS 

18



 

  respectively.    

f Members to take ownership of scrutiny To be addressed as part of the training package being provided by CfGS CfGS No IN PROGRESS 

g Ensure there is a valid reason for item going to 

Scrutiny – no items just for noting. 

Outlined in Strategy Group report for consideration on 9 December 2020 and the 

Community and Corporate Scrutiny Committees on 10 February and 10 March 

respectively. 

JA/AB No IN PROGRESS 

h Hold pre-meetings to discuss expected 

outcomes of each Scrutiny meeting 

Addressed following a recommendation from the Working Group – Paragraph 4 

above refers. 

JA/AB No ONGOING 

i Members have varied knowledge of processes 

such as holding to account and call in 

To be addressed as part of the training package being provided by CfGS CfGS No IN PROGRESS 

j Improving questioning skills To be addressed as part of the training package being provided by CfGS CfGS No IN PROGRESS 

 

 

Abbreviations 

CfGS Centre for Governance & Scrutiny 

EW Elizabeth Warhurst, Monitoring Officer 

JA James Arnold, Strategic Director 

AB Andy Barton, Strategic Director 

ML Melanie Long, Democratic Services Team Manager 

GL Group Leaders 

RW Rachel Wallace, Democratic Support Officer 

1
5

 
19



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

This page is intentionally left blank 

20



Corporate Scrutiny Committee – WORK PROGRAMME (as at 02/03/21) 
 

Date of Meeting Item Lead Officer Witnesses Agenda Item Duration 

10 March 2021 

10 March 2021 Items for Inclusion in the Future Work 
Programme 

Andy Barton, Strategic 
Director of Housing and 
Customer Services 

 10 Minutes 

10 March 2021 2020/21 Quarter 3 Performance Report Mike Murphy, Head of 
Human Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 

  

09 June 2021 

9 June 2021 Scrutiny Annual Report Melanie Long  10 minutes 

9 June 2021 Zero Carbon Update Paul Sanders, Head of 
Community Services 

  21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Notice of Executive Key Decisions  
 

The attached notice lists the matters which are likely to be the subject of a key decision by the Council's executive and executive decision making bodies.  This notice is 
produced in accordance with the Constitution adopted by North West Leicestershire District Council and will be published a minimum of 28 days before the date on which a 
key decision is to be made on behalf of the Council. 
 
The date of publication of this notice is Friday, 26 February 2021. The Deadline for making any representations as to why items marked as private should be considered in 
public by Cabinet on 23 March 2021 is 5pm on Friday, 12 March 2021 and for Cabinet on 30 March 2021 the Deadline is 5pm Friday, 19 March 2021. 
 

Key Decisions  
 

A key decision means a decision taken by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, an area or joint committee or an individual in connection with the discharge of a 
function which is the responsibility of the executive and which is likely: 
 
(a)      to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council's budget for the service or 
 function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(b)     to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the area of the Council; 
 
(c)      for the purposes of (a) and (b) above £100,000 shall be regarded as significant in terms of expenditure or savings, and any issue which, in the opinion of the 
 Leader is likely to have an impact on people, shall be regarded as significant in terms of impact on communities. 
 
The Council’s Executive 
 
The Council’s executive committee is the Cabinet.  The Cabinet comprises: 
 

Councillor R Blunt - Leader    Councillor A Woodman  - Community Services 
Councillor R Ashman - Deputy Leader and Planning & Infrastructure Councillor N J Rushton  - Corporate 
Councillor T Gillard - Business and Regeneration  Councillor R D Bayliss  - Housing, Property & Customer Services  
 

Confidential Items and Private Meetings of the Executive 
 
Whilst the majority of the Cabinet's business at the meetings listed in this notice will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will inevitably be some 
business to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. This is a formal notice under the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that part of the Cabinet meetings listed in this Forward Plan may be held in 
private because the agenda and reports for the meeting contain exempt information under Part 1 Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act (Access to Information) Act 
1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. Those Items where it is considered that they 
should be considered in private are identified on the Notice.  
 

Access to Agenda and Related Documents 
 

Documents relating to the matters listed in this notice are available at least 5 clear working days prior to the date of decision as indicated below.  Other documents relevant 
to the matters listed in this notice may be submitted to the decision maker. 
 

If you wish to request or submit a document, or make representation in relation to any issue contained within this notice, please contact Democratic and Support Services 
on telephone number 01530 454512 or by emailing memberservices@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

23



 

Executive Decisions 

Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 

where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or  other 

Committee 

23 March 2021 

Needham's Walk Coalville 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Non-Key Private 
Information 
relating to the 
financial or 
business affairs of 
any particular 
person (including 
the authority 
holding that 
information)  

 

23 March 2021 Councillor Richard Blunt 
Tel: 01530 454510 
richard.blunt@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Economic 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01530 454 354 
paul.wheatley@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 

Needham's Walk 
Coalville 

Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee. 

30 March 2021 

Update on Establishment of 
Company to be known as 
'EM DEVCO Limited' 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

30 March 2021 Councillor Robert 
Ashman 
Tel: 01283 561700 
robert.ashman@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Planning and 
Infrastructure 
Tel: 01530 454668 
chris.elston@nwleicesters
hire.gov.uk 
 

DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION 
UPDATE 

Council - 16 March 
2021 

24



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 

where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

2020/21 Quarter 2 & 
Quarter 3 Performance 
Reports 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

30 March 2021 Councillor Richard Blunt 
Tel: 01530 454510 
richard.blunt@nwleicester
shire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 
Tel: 01530 454518 
mike.murphy@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

 Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee - 10 March 
2021 

PSPO Castle Donington 
'Car Cruise' 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Part Private 
Information 
relating to the 
financial or 
business affairs of 
any particular 
person (including 
the authority 
holding that 
information)  
 

 

30 March 2021 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Cabinet Report 
PSPO Castle 
Donington 'Car 
Cruise' 

Not to be considered 
by Scrutiny Committee 

25



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 

where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Ashby Canal Infrastructure 
Investment 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Non-Key Public 
 
 

 

30 March 2021 Councillor Tony Gillard 
Tel: 01530 452930 
tony.gillard@nwleicesters
hire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Economic 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01530 454 354 
paul.wheatley@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 

NWLDC grant for 
canal restoration - 
position statement 
07.02.21 
ASHBY CANAL 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
INVESTMENT 

Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee.  The 
report is requesting a 
change to a Cabinet 
decision (13.06.17), 
the request does not 
change the original 
purpose which 
supports the 
investment in the 
infrastructure of Ashby 
Canal, it seeks to 
allocate the funding to 
an alternative 
infrastructure project. 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current Tenant 
Rent Arrears, Council Tax, 
Non Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write Offs 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Non-Key Public 
 
 

 

30 March 2021 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Finance 
Tel: 01530 454707 
tracy.bingham@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 

Former Tenant Rent 
Arrears, Current 
Tenant Rent Arrears, 
Council Tax, Non 
Domestic Rates and 
Sundry Debtor Write 
Offs 

Not to be considered 
by a Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Corporate Disposals Policy 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

30 March 2021 Councillor Roger Bayliss 
Tel: 01530 411055 
roger.bayliss@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Housing 
Tel: 01530 454780 
chris.lambert@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Report 
Corporate Disposals 
Policy 

Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee - 6 January 
2021 

April 2021 

26



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 

where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Additional Restrictions 
Grant 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

27 April 2021 Councillor Tony Gillard 
Tel: 01530 452930 
tony.gillard@nwleicesters
hire.gov.uk 
 
 
Tel: 01530 454822 
BARRIE.WALFORD@N
WLEICESTERSHIRE.GO
V.UK 
 

Additional 
Restricttions Grant 

Community Scrutiny 
Committee - 07 April 
2021 

Update on Air Quality 
Management Areas & 
submission of Annual 
Status Report 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

27 April 2021 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Update on Air 
Quality Management 
Areas & submission 
of Annual Status 
Report 

The scheme of 
delegation only 
requires Cabinet 
approval for this 
decision, there is 
therefore no 
requirement for 
consideration by a 
Scrutiny Committee. 

May 2021 

There are no meetings of the Cabinet scheduled in May 2021. 

June 2021 

27



Decision Decision 
Maker 

Status of 
Decision 

Public or 
Private 

 
(and reason – 

where private 

Date of Decision Contacts Documents to be 
submitted to the 
Decision Maker 

Considered by 
Scrutiny or other 

Committee 

Corporate Governance 
Policies - Annual Review 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

8 June 2021 Councillor Nicholas 
Rushton 
Tel: 01530 412059 
nicholas.rushton@nwleic
estershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Legal and 
Commercial Services 
Tel: 01530 454762 
elizabeth.warhurst@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 

Review of Corporate 
Governance Policies 

Audit and Governance 
Committee -  21 April 
2021 

Minutes of the Coalville 
Special Expenses Working 
Party 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Public 
 

 

8 June 2021 Councillor Andrew 
Woodman 
Tel: 07970 520357 
andrew.woodman@nwlei
cestershire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Community 
Services 
Tel: 01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleiceste
rshire.gov.uk 
 

Minutes of the 
Coalville Special 
Expenses Party from 
20 April 2021 
Minutes of the 
Coalville Special 
Expenses Party 

Coalville Special 
Expenses Working 
Party - 20 April 2021 

Marlborough Centre 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Key Private 
Information 
relating to the 
financial or 
business affairs of 
any particular 
person (including 
the authority 
holding that 
information)  

 

8 June 2021 Councillor Tony Gillard 
Tel: 01530 452930 
tony.gillard@nwleicesters
hire.gov.uk 
 
Head of Economic 
Regeneration 
Tel: 01530 454 354 
paul.wheatley@nwleicest
ershire.gov.uk 
 

Report 
Marlborough Centre 

Community Scrutiny 
Committee - 19 May 
2021 

28



 

NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICTCOUNCIL 
 
CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – WEDNESDAY,  
10 MARCH 2021 
 

Title of Report 2020/ 21 QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Presented by Mike Murphy 
Head of Human Resources and Organisational 
Development 

Background Papers Various documents on 
the In-Phase performance 
management system. 

Public Report: Yes 

 

Financial Implications Both the HRA and General Fund are forecast to deliver 
reduced surpluses compared to their original budgeted 
position, as a result of the adverse impact of the 
pandemic.  On the General Fund, the forecast outturn is 
however considerably more favourable and much 
improved than those reported to members earlier in the 
financial year. 
 
Both the General Fund and HRA Capital Programmes 
forecast additional underspends and/or slippage.  
 
Financial performance is summarised in Appendix 2. 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Legal Implications  

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 

Staffing and Corporate 

Implications 

 

 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 

Purpose of Report 

 

The report provides members of the Committee with 
information on the performance and progress made 
against the Council Delivery Plan actions and 
performance indicators for Quarter 3 (October - December 
2020) 

Recommendations THAT THE CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
NOTES THE QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE REPORT 
(October – December 2020) AND PROVIDE 
COMMENTS FOR CONSIDERATION BY CABINET. 
 

 

29

Agenda Item 6.



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Planning and Performance Management framework helps the Council - 
 

 Clearly articulate our priorities and desired outcomes 

 Prioritise what gets done within the resources available 

 Provides and demonstrates value for money 

 Provide good services and satisfaction for our local community 

 Improves organisational performance 

 Motivate and manage our employees and workers. 
 
1.2 Its purpose is to deliver the best outcomes and service in relation to our priorities 

and statutory responsibilities within available resources, and to create an ‘early 
warning system; where this is not the case. To do this we need to be intelligence 
focused and take action in response to actual performance to make outcomes better 
that they would otherwise be. 

 
1.3 Performance is managed at a strategic, service, operational and individual level. 
 
1.4 At a strategic level, Members and the Corporate Leadership team need to ensure 

that services are provided meeting the needs of the community, both now and in the 
future. Members and the leadership team also need to ensure that there are 
appropriate and meaningful measures underpinning our vision and objectives so 
that they can be assured that we are making good progress towards our vision, 
priorities and objectives published in our Council Delivery Plan. Much of the 
Councils regular work and objectives have been impacted by the COVID-19 
pandemic during 2020 and early 2021. Council agreed a revised Council Delivery 
Plan at its meeting in November 2020 and this report documents progress in the 
objectives and measures to the end of the third quarter – 31 December 2020. 

 
1.5 At a service level, Heads of Service need to monitor performance against service 

plans. These include all tasks, projects, measures and risks relating to their own 
service objectives and from any other source, e.g. external inspectorate 
recommendations such as the planning peer review and internal audit 
recommendations etc. 

 
1.6 At an operational level, individual work plans may be in place to monitor and report 

on team and individual performance to feed up into the service plans. These are 
then linked to individual performance and activity. 

 
1.7 The quarterly performance reports will seek to recognise good performance, share 

best practice across the organisation and also to identify ‘performance gaps’ 
highlighting if and where action is required to meet targets. Once these gaps are 
identified, time bound intervention plans will be created or adapted to improve 
performance towards the target. This will be part of a continual cycle of review and 
action. 

 
2. SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE QUARTER 3 
 
2.1  This report sets out the performance and progress against the Council Delivery 

Plan   priority actions, performance indicators, Health and Safety, Customer 
services, and sickness absence management.  

30



 
This information in this performance report has been significantly impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic which had a major impact on the Council’s normal work 
activities with services ceased, suspended or reduced during the early quarters of 
the year and many instances of resources and staffing being redirected to 
implement grants and other support to our communities and businesses. New 
areas of work have been required to support the government pandemic 
management measures.  Disruptions to supply chains and to the work of many of 
our critical partners have also impacted on our ambitions. The Council’s Delivery 
plan was revised accordingly at the Council meeting in November 2020.  

 
2.2 A high-level report on the progress made against the Council Delivery Plan at the 

end of Q3 is included in Appendix 1. In summary of the 43 actions in the 20/21  
Council Delivery Plan 7 had been achieved, good progress was made with 33 of 
the actions and 3 have not been achieved at this stage in the year. Progress is 
also shown, where there have been any developments, against the actions 
scheduled for the 2021 – 2023 actions, and these are indicated in the table.  The 
Council Delivery Plan has in the meantime been reviewed to consider where the 
focus should be with key projects and actions in the light of the COVID-19 
pandemic and its wide ranging influences both the Business as usual activities and 
the strategic aspirations of the Council.  A separate update on the performance of 
the Council against key actions, projects and indicators during quarter 3 of 
2020/2021 is included at Appendix 2.  

 
2.3 The following notable achievements in the third quarter of 2020/21 were:- 
 
2.4 Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town 
 

 The Councils submission for Future High Street Funding was unsuccessful. 
 Officers are now exploring other ways to ensure the projects identified in the 
 submission can continue to be delivered. European funding has been secured 
 to assist with the reopening of our towns and local centres safely and within 
 COVID-19 guidelines. 

 

 Working within the COVID-19 restrictions, two community events programmes 
were delivered – a Big festive drive in Cinema in Coalville which attracted over 
3900 people to the town centre and a reduced version of the previous 
Christmas in Coalville event involving a Santa display for families and children 
which was very well received by shoppers. 

 

 A scaled back version of the “hello heritage” festival was delivered which 
involved Coalville heritage information bards and a series of short films 
promoted via social media as part of the “Lights, camera, heritage” project. 

 

 We provided significant support to the market traders during a difficult period 
significantly affected by the COVID-19 restrictions, enabling trading to 
continue wherever possible within the government guidelines. A number of 
new traders have joined the market during the year. 

 

 Refurbishment work continued on the new indoor market in Marlborough 
square and we are hopeful we will receive the building from the contractors 
late February/ early March.  

 
31



2.5 Our communities are safe, healthy and connected. 
 
 

 Significant progress has been made with the construction of the new Leisure 
Centre in Coalville/Whitwick. The highway works are complete, the site set out 
and the foundations were laid for the roadways, car parking, and the main 
building. A significant amount of the steel framework for the buildings has also 
been completed. 

 

 We supported 30 parish Councils and Community Response units (CRU’s) 
through funding, advice and guidance as part of our work to help our 
communities recover from the impacts of COVID-19. 

 

 We provided vital support to many vulnerable individuals in our communities 
affected by the pandemic, through the work of the community hub, providing 
essential food and support and assistance with a range of issues. We have 
worked closely with partners such as CRU’s, Citizens advice, The Red Cross, 
NHS volunteer responders, the Marlene Reid Centre, Enrych, the Trussell 
Trust and local area co-ordinators to ensure these people receive targeted and 
sustainable support.  

 

 We continued to significantly increase the number of customer on-line 
accounts and an increasing number of forms and requests can now be made 
online, enabling customers to contact us 24/7 for an increasing number of 
service requests across the Council’s services. 

 

 We have worked with partners to deliver the Obesity strategy for 
Leicestershire and to support the Leicestershire Weight management service 
through a variety of on-line activity options. 

 

 Sickness levels in the Councils workforce are at their lowest levels for some 
time and are considerably below the corporate target. However, the sickness 
rates have been influenced by the measures introduced by the government to 
manage the COVID-19 pandemic, so it is likely they are not strictly 
comparable with the rates in previous years. 

 
2.6 Local people live in High quality, affordable homes 
 

 All new major housing developments in the district meet the standards 
contained in the Councils good design guide.  

 

 The target to provide at least 15 new council homes through new build or 
through developers or market purchase is exceeded with the completion of 8 
new properties on the former Cocked hat site in Greenhill, Coalville, and 11 
open market purchase have been secured with a further 5 in progress to be 
completed by the year end. 

 

 We have worked with local housing associations to deliver 89 new affordable 
homes so far this year against our target of 300 in the 3 year life of the Council 
Delivery Plan.  

 
 

32



2.7 Support for businesses and helping people into jobs  
 

 The key focus of Economic Development work in the quarter has been support 
to assist business recovery during the COVID-19 pandemic. This has included 
virtual jobs fairs, business support and advice, and grant funding opportunities.  

 

 Working with our Leisure partner Everyone Active we have engaged 32 local 
companies in supply chains to support the construction and delivery of the 
new Whitwick and Coalville Leisure Centre. 

 

 The economic development team provided advice and support to local 
businesses during the lead up to and response post the European Union exit 
at the end of December 2020.  

 

 Our objective to provide grant funding and business made further progress 
with work on the Enterprising 3 grants funding programme, and once complete 
this strand of work will have attracted over £170K of grant funding, levering 
£1.2M of private sector funding and creating 70 new local jobs. 

 

 The promotion of North West Leicestershire as a key location for business has 
progressed with support for the Jaguar Land Rover and DSV development site 
at Junction 11 of the A42. Work is also ongoing to support the investment at 
the SEGRO site including work with new occupiers including XPO, Very and 
Amazon, and with new prospective occupants. 

 

 Continued collaborative work is underway with Kegworth Parish Council to 
design and deliver public realm enhancements in the village. 

 
2.8 Developing a clean and green district 
 

 We were able to resume and expand our food waste collection trials at the 
beginning of November 2020, with 4,000 households in Coalville, Ravenstone 
and Whitwick. We launched battery-recycling collections and 3.3 tonnes have 
been collected and sent for recycling. 

 

 Recycling trolley trials are underway as pilots in the district to seek to make 
the process easier for customers to sort and move their recycling to the 
kerbside for collection while minimising litter debris. 

 

 Electric vehicle charging point feasibility studies have now been completed 
across 4 district locations, and we are planning to complete installations at 3 
locations by the spring of 2021. 

 

 We have partnered with Eon to undertake cavity wall insulation on 76 Council 
properties, and this work is scheduled for completion during quarter 4.  

 
3.0 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
3.1 The use of both qualitative and quantitative measures (indicators) to supplement 
 the delivery of actions in the Council Delivery plan provides a picture of how we 
 are performing against the expected outcomes. Progress against the Council’s key 
 indicators is detailed in Appendix 2 with explanations of the progress against each 

33



 of the key tasks identified for quarter 3. The overall performance against the 
 indicators was significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic - 12 were on 
 target, 5 were within a 5% variance of the target and 15 were not achieved. The 
 table in Appendix 2 shows the detail of the performance indicators, along with 
 explanations where the targets have been missed. Members will see that many of 
 the Councils activities have been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 
 pandemic. 
 
4.0 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
 
4.1 At Quarter 3, the council is managing its finances well and since the last update to 
 members, has been able to recover some of the adverse financial effects of the 
 pandemic.   
 
4.2 The forecast position on the General Fund for 2020/21 is a surplus for the year of 
 £224,000, compared to a budgeted surplus of £630,000. The reduced surplus is 
 largely as a result of the impact of the pandemic on the council’s operations and 
 therefore finances.  The forecast has recovered considerably since the last update 
 and this is as a result of further funding having been announced (which includes 
 £209,000 from the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport to 
 compensate the Council for the impact in respect of supporting the leisure 
 operator) but also as a result of a concerted effort from service areas to ensure 
 that savings that will be recognised at the end of the year are identified and 
 reported early on. 
 
4.3 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) projects a reduced forecast surplus if 
 £2,414,000 compared to the budgeted position of £2,779,000.  This is largely of 
 the effect of national restrictions on the ability to carry out repairs in council 
 homes, which leads to a higher deficit on our in-house repairs team trading 
 account.  Like the General Fund, the forecast has improved since it was last 
 reported to members. 
 
4.3 Special Expenses is forecast to deliver a £24,000 surplus compared to the 
 budgeted deficit of £35,000 and therefore reserves will be contributed to (rather 
 than from) for the year. 
 
4.4 Finally, the projected outturn on the General Fund Capital Programme is £10.67m 
 compared to an original budget of £12.9m. The HRA projects outturn spend of 
 £7.5m against a budget of £10.1m.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: All Council priorities are covered by this report 

Policy Considerations: Measurements are made against the Council Delivery Plan 
actions. 
 

Safeguarding: No specific considerations. 
 

Equalities/Diversity: No direct impacts 
 

Customer Impact: As detailed in the report 
 

Economic and Social 

Impact:  

As detailed in the report 

Environment and 

Climate Change: 

As detailed in the report 

Consultation/Community 

Engagement: 

No direct impacts 

Risks: No specific risks.. 

Officer Contact 

 

Bev Smith Chief Executive 
bev.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 
Mike Murphy Head of Human Resources and Organisation 
Development 
01530 454518 
mike.murphy@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

35

mailto:bev.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mike.murphy@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


APPENDIX 1. 

Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town 

Our aims 

Coalville is a vibrant town – Local people choose to spend their time and money in Coalville town centre 
 – Coalville is a good place to do business 

 

Key tasks 2020/21 Quarter 3 Performance 

Commence delivery of the Coalville Regeneration Framework to 
enhance the town centre 
 
 

In addition to the ongoing delivery of Newmarket and phase 1 of 
improvements to the Belvoir Centre, we are undertaking preparatory 
works (design and consenting) for a further five major projects in 
Coalville Town Centre. 

Seek external funding, including the new national Future High 
Streets Fund to support  town centre regeneration, and recovery 
post COVID19 
 
 

The Coalville Submission for Future High Streets funding has been 
unsuccessful. Officers are now exploring other ways to ensure the 
projects identified within the submission can continue to be 
delivered. Government has announced that a new Levelling Up 
Fund will made available within the 21/22 financial year and we will 
look to exploit this where possible. 
Officers have secured European funding from the Reopening High 
Streets Safely fund to support our towns and local centres to 
continue to trade safely within Covid19 restriction guidelines. 

Seek a cinema operator for Coalville 
 
 

Cinema operators are under extreme financial pressure at the 
current time due to Covid19 movement and operation restrictions. 
This has made their willingness to engage in conversation about 
new facilities very limited at current time. 
Conversations are still underway with potential operators regarding 
a new operation in Coalville. 

36



We remain optimistic that a new cinema for Coalville will be viable 
in more normal economic circumstances with demand having been 
reinforced by the success of the open air drive in cinema operated 
over the 2020 Christmas period. 

Deliver a community events programme, where appropriate in line 
with the current COVID19 guidance 
 
 

The Big Festive ‘Drive in Cinema’ 17-21 December – 11 festive 
films were screened at an outdoor cinema at Coalville Market car 
park.  The event attracted over 3900 people to Coalville, the event 
was very well received with plans to return in 2021. 
Christmas in Coalville – due to COVID-19 it was not possible to 
deliver the traditional event.  A Santa, elf, sleigh and reindeer display 
was located in Coalville town centre over six days (Fridays and 
Saturdays) leading up to Christmas.  Shoppers and visitors to the 
town centre were able to ‘Wave to Santa’ (socially distanced).  The 
attraction was well received and was visited by a number of people. 

Start the implementation of Marlborough Square redevelopment 
 
Achieved / Not achieved / In progress 
Complete the new indoor market on Marlborough Square 
 
 

Providing there are no further restrictions on the construction 
industry as a result of Covid19, the Newmarket refurbishment works 
will be completed by the end of February/early March with the 
handover of the building from the contractors Crowngate 
Construction to the market team. There will be a period of time to 
mobilise the operation of the new facility with operational, staffing 
and maintenance protocols established prior to opening in early 
Spring 2021. 

Work with partners to make the most of our heritage to bolster the 
town’s identity and sense of place 
 
 

A scaled back ‘Hello Heritage’ festival was delivered with heritage 
information boards located across the town centre as part of the 
district wide ‘Heritage on your doorstep’ project.  These were also 
displayed on the website 
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/hello_heritage_coalville  
Additionally a series of short films were produced as part of the 
‘Lights, camera, heritage’ project, these were promoted via social 

37

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/hello_heritage_coalville


media 
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/lights_camera_action_heritage  

Provide grants to at least ten businesses in Coalville to improve the 
fronts of their buildings, creating a better street scene 
 
 

Despite the interruptions caused by the Coronavirus pandemic, 
Council Officers are working with the applicants and architects for 
final 7 Coalville Frontage Improvement Scheme projects. Once 
completed these improved properties will have receive a combined 
grant award of over £250,000. 

Consider how the Councils accommodation and property ownership 
can assist with the delivery of regeneration and reduce 
environmental impacts 
 
 

The Council’s corporate property portfolio is engaged with the 
Climate Change programme and is beginning feasibility work, to 
detail the opportunities for improvement to thermal envelopes, and 
energy loss of Council Buildings. This work has been delayed in part 
due to the pandemic and will likely run into Q4/Q1 before completion. 
In addition the Council will shortly again, begin work on the 
opportunities around Corporate Accommodation. 

Continue to provide support and funding for Coalville Market traders 
to grow their business 
 
 

Significant support has been provided to the market traders in the 
existing building and a vibrant feeling has developed amongst the 
traders and staff at the hall. The market officer operates an open 
door policy and is available to traders to deal with any queries and 
offer one to one support. A monthly newsletter is circulated to all 
traders and regular meetings are conducted when Covid19 
restrictions permit. The market has traded successfully in line with 
the various pandemic lockdown criteria. Some virtual sessions are 
planned before the end of this year to support the various traders’ 
business plans and some face-to-face sessions will be 
implemented when restrictions allow. 22 new traders have joined 
us at the market during the past year selling a variety of products 
ranging from homemade foodstuff, artisan gifts, fashion and 
accessories. Traders have commented on the vibrancy of the 
market and the support provided from the team.   
 

38

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/lights_camera_action_heritage


Progress against 2021/23 Financial year Actions  

Begin priority projects in the Regeneration Framework for Coalville 
 
 

A number of planning applications for projects in the Regeneration 
Framework are being prepared for submission from Q4 onwards. 

Enable and initiate new developments and public realm projects, 
supporting the district’s high aspirations for design quality 
 
 

Officers continue to work closely with developers to ensure that 
major housing developments permitted by the Council accord with 
detailed master plans and design codes that support the districts 
high aspirations for design quality. Examples include decisions 
made on planning applications at south east Coalville and on-going 
work to ensure the housing development at Money Hill, Ashby, and 
the Councils own housing development at Cropston Drive, Coalville 
are of the highest standard of design possible. 

Support the redevelopment of key housing sites in Coalville 
 
 

Officers have been working Registered Housing Providers and 
private sector developers to bring forward three new residential 
developments at Wolsey Road in Coalville. Preparatory works are 
ongoing with the aim of enabling a first planning application to be 
submitted during the first half of 2021. 

Work with the Belvoir Shopping Centre to make it a more attractive 
destination and reduce the number of vacant shops 
 
 

First phase works public realm improvements and redevelopment 
works to improve accessibility will be undertaken by the centre 
owners as soon as Covid19 restrictions allow. Further regeneration 
projects for the Belvoir Centre are at a preparatory stage. 

Ensure that links to the new leisure centre are maximised focusing 
on Hermitage Recreation Ground and the future of the leisure centre 
building 
 
 

No update at this stage, 2021/23 action. 

 

39



Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 

Our aims 

Put our customer sat the heart of all we do – Increase connectivity (physically and virtually) throughout our communities 
– Support safer neighbourhoods 

 

Key tasks 2020/21 Quarter 3 Performance 

Ensure that our communities recover from the impacts of COVID19, 
including the continued delivery of the ‘hub’ for our shielded and 
vulnerable residents 
 
 

30 parish councils and 28 Community Response Units (CRU’s) 
continue to be supported by the council through the delivery of 
funding, advice, and the interpreting of government guidance as part 
of the community recovery effort from Covid-19. 5,380 Covid19 
leaflets, emergency contact cards, and posters have been delivered 
to communities. In addition, 3 CRU drop in sessions have been 
facilitated, and a district countywide CRU meeting has been held. 3 
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) newsletters 
have been sent to 580 VCSE contacts, along with 3 parish council 
newsletters. 
The Community Hub continues to provide vital support to many 
vulnerable residents of the District. At its peak, the hub was 
supporting 270 individuals and although this has now reduced to 59 
ongoing cases, an average of 14 new referrals are being received 
weekly. Support focusses on the Clinically Extremely Vulnerable 
and the Clinically Vulnerable who cannot access essential 
necessities such as food or have complex needs including mental 
health and wellbeing issues, financial problems, adult social care 
and safeguarding concerns, or bereavement issues. The majority of 
cases are triaged and referred on to more sustainable support 
partners such as CRU’s, Citizens Advice Bureau, The Red Cross, 
NHS Volunteer Responders, Marlene Reid Centre, Enrych, Trussell 
Trust, or Local Area Coordinators. The Hub continues to provide 

40



direct support in the form of food shopping, telephone welfare 
checks, and prescription collections. 

Develop and deploy an ‘agile’ working policy and approach 
 
 

An agile working policy has been developed and agreed. This policy 
is designed to change working practices in the post-COVID era, with 
a greater proportion of employees undertaking mixed location 
working. The implementation of this new approach will be fully 
introduced at an appropriate time in 2021/22. 

Make sure our customers can interact with us in a way which meets 
their needs, improving our services, promoting  self-serve and digital 
options as well as providing face-to-face support compliant with 
COVID19 guidance 
 
 

Our customers, since the pandemic started, have migrated to 
contacting us in a digital format. We have continued to offer 
opportunities for face to face contact with those most in need, 
without access to digital means or for those most vulnerable in our 
area. We aim to continue to promote our services throughout Q4, 
with the inception of a Customer Experience Forum which will be 
advertised for, due to begin work in the new financial year. The focus 
of this group will shape delivery of our services to help us achieve 
our goals 

We intend to work with our partners to deliver the proposed Obesity 
Strategy for Leicestershire and support the Leicestershire Weight 
Management service by providing physical activity for their clients 
as part of the integrated Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
 

We have worked very closely with a range of stakeholders across 
the county in the development of the Leicestershire Obesity Strategy 
and the formal consultation concluded on 27th December 2020. The 
final strategy is currently awaited as we also start work on a North 
West Leicestershire Obesity Action Plan to complement the 
strategy.  Officers from the Health and Wellbeing Team have 
delivered a range of virtual opportunities including 2 way live 
exercise classes using Microsoft Teams, pre-recorded exercise 
classes, and Facebook Live exercise classes. These have been 
supplemented by telephone support and exercise booklets and 
activity packs posted out for home support. The following quote was 
received from a Steady Steps online participant; “The improvement 
to my life has been tremendous. Because of the steady steps 
classes and homework exercise, I feel better than I have in years. I 
have improved energy, strength, balance and a big increase in 

41



confidence. I am constantly recommending the steady steps classes 
to friends and family. I feel absolutely wonderful". 

Work with our leisure partner to start the construction of the new 
Whitwick and Coalville Leisure Centre 
 
 

Significant progress has been made with the construction of the new 
leisure centre having started on site back in July 2020.  The highway 
works are complete, the site set out and the foundations in place for 
the roadways, car parking and the main building itself.  A significant 
amount of the steel frame has also been installed. The project is 
currently a month ahead of the planned schedule of delivery. The 
council’s building contract with the contractor has been completed 
with the transfer of all risk to the contractor.  Planned completion is 
July 2022 and the council’s website contains detailed updates on 
progress including video and photographic images. 

Working with local schools, parish councils and leisure centres, 
improve the community leisure facilities in Castle Donington and at 
Ibstock and Measham Leisure Centres 
 
 

The projects led by our community partners at Measham and Ibstock 
have progressed well in terms of design and project development 
and are being supported by officers although progress has been 
delayed due to the pandemic and the priority being placed by 
partners on the use of Measham as a vaccine site and the focus on 
curriculum matters at Ibstock.  The project at Castle Donington has 
also been delayed due to the pandemic, but meetings have been 
established in January with the school and the parish council in order 
to progress it. 

Develop our tourism offer to encourage inward investment, dwell 
time and connecting visitor attractions 
 
 

National Forest Sustainable Tourism Accommodation Design 
Guide – the district council continues to contribute to the 
development of this guide in partnership with The National Forest 
Company, district/borough councils and key landowners.  The 
guide will be completed in March 2021.  Phase two of the project 
will commence in Q1 of 2021, undertaking landowner visits (100 
expressions of interest over the National Forest area), progressing 
to detailed feasibility studies with landowners who wish to progress 
their accommodation investment opportunities further, this is 
contributing to our economic recovery work. 

42



Forest Experiences – this project draws together a distinctive 
collection of high quality activity packages that connect people with 
the Forest, designed specifically for the corporate market.  The 
project themed as ‘reconnecting naturally’ will go live at the end of 
January 2021 and will be ready to launch when businesses are 
able to reopen (subject to Covid-19 regulations), this is contributing 
to our economic recovery work. 
Moira Furnace to Hicks Lodge ‘multi-use’ pathway – the final 
section of pathway has been installed to connect Moira Furnace and 
Hicks Lodge.  Top dressing of the pathway through the housing 
development is scheduled for 2021, when completed the ‘blacked 
out’ fingerposts will be cleaned off and visible when the route is 
completed. 

Encourage and support town and parish councils to write and 
prepare their own Neighbourhood Plans 
 
 

Support currently being given to 5 Neighbourhood Plan groups. Two 
new Neighbourhood Plan areas designated so far in 2020/21. 
 

Adopt the partial review of the Local Plan 
 
 

The proposed modifications were published in November 2020. 
 

Progress against 2021/23 financial year Actions  

Develop a network of locations for mobile CCTV 
 
 

This is in development, however work has been delayed due to 
COVID-19. 

Stabilise and reduce if possible our sickness absence levels through 
a combination of measures in our People Plan 
 
 

The sickness absence rate has declined significantly during 
2021/22, to just 5.52 days lost per full time equivalent against a 
target of 8.0 days per fte.. However, the figures have been distorted 
by the COVID-19 pandemic which has meant some of the long term 

43



absences were hidden by vulnerable employees shielding or in 
quarantine or isolation. 

Work towards increasing participation levels at Coalville and Ashby 
Leisure Centres by 58% by 2026 
 
 

Work is continuing to aim to increase participation levels back to 
what they were pre-Covid-19, but this is a longer-term target. 

Achieve accreditation from the Surveillance Camera Commissioner 
for our CCTV system 
 
 

Progressing now the CCTV control room is up and running. 

44



Local People live in high quality, affordable homes 

Our aims 

Increase the number of affordable homes in the district 
Improve the quality of our council housing – Improve the quality of private rented accommodation 

 

Key tasks 2020-21 Quarter 3 Performance 

Get planning permission and start building new council homes in 
Whitwick and  Measham and pursue other sites where viable 
 
 

Work is underway on developing a site design that reflects the 
considerable constraints of the identified site in Whitwick. 
Specialist engineers have now been commissioned to support with 
this process. This has delayed the submission of a planning 
application for the site. 
Pre-application work for the site at Measham is near conclusion 
and a planning application will be submitted imminently once some 
contractual matters have been resolved. 
A programme of additional sites is being developed on an ongoing 
basis and planning permission has been secured for a small infill 
site in Moira. 

Ensure residential development takes place on brownfield sites in 
Moira and Measham 
 
 

Planning permission has been secured for 2 units on a former 
garage site in Moira and construction is scheduled to begin in 
quarter one of 2021/22. 
Pre-application work for the site at Measham is near conclusion 
and a planning application will be submitted imminently once some 
contractual matters have been resolved. 

Ensure all new housing in the district meets the standards of the 
NWLDC Good Design Guide. 
 
 

All new major housing developments in the district are subject to 
consultation with the Council’s Urban Designer and meet the 
standards contained in the NWLDC Good Design Guide. 

45



Invest up to £5 million to upgrade tenants’ homes and their 
neighbourhoods 
 
 

Due to Covid19, there have been period of time when work streams 
have been put on hold or reduced.  It is anticipated approximately 
300 components such as kitchens, bathrooms, boilers will be 
replaced during the year at a value of £1.47m 

Alter tenants’ homes where there is an assessed medical need, by 
spending up to £300,000 on level access showers, stair lifts and 
other aids and adaptations 
 

Up to the end of Quarter 3, a total of 88 adaptations have been 
completed in tenants’ homes comprising of 27 major adaptations at 
a cost of £132,261.14 and 61 minor adaptations at a cost of 
£16,982.70.  Total expenditure at the end of Quarter 3 was 
£149,243.84, with a further £100,234.92 of work in progress. 

Invest £770,000 in estate improvements including off-street parking, 
improvements to footpaths and roads and mobility scooter stores 
 
 

The estate improvement work was placed on hold due to Covid19 
due to reduced resources.  External project management support 
has been secured which will see off street parking improvements at 
two locations completed during Quarter 4 with a value of 
£178,172.37.  Work has also commenced on developing the 
specification for the installation of scooter stores at four sheltered 
housing schemes.  

Carry out proactive, targeted enforcement so all eligible landlords 
have a Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) License 
 
 

The team have been working proactively and a number of actions 
have been carried out this year including: 

 Following up unlicensed HMOs to ensure compliance 

 Communicate with agents reminding them of the 
requirements for HMOs 

 Reviewed the Kegworth HMO campaign and identified the 
next target area as Ellistown 

Further work in respect of rolling out the campaign and continuing to 
follow up unlicensed HMOs will build on this work in 2021/21. 

Commence delivery of the redevelopment of Appleby Magna 
Caravan Park   
 
 

Following extensive consultation with the residents, external project 
management has been secured and the redevelopment proposals 
will be submitted to Planning for approval during Q4 with a view to 
the work being completed before winter 2021. 

46



Provide at least 15 new council homes through new build or by 
acquiring through agreements with developers and market purchase   
 
 

8 New build properties were completed on the former Cocked Hat 
site last summer. A further 11 open market purchases have 
completed so far this year with a further 5 scheduled before year 
end. 
 

Progress against 2021/23 financial year Actions  

Maximise the number of private empty properties that are brought 
back into use 
 
 

No update at this stage (2021/23 action) 

Selectively buy back long term empty properties 
 
 

11 properties have been purchased with a further 5 scheduled for 
completion during Quarter 4.  One is a long term empty property and 
four are buy backs.  Due to the limited interest from owners of long 
term empty properties, the focus changes to other properties for sale 
in the District that were of the right type, size and location to meet 
housing need. 

Work with local housing associations to supply 300 new affordable 
homes 
 
 

89 new affordable homes have been delivered so far this year with 
a further 34 scheduled for completion. 
We are currently forecasting 150 completions in 2021/22 and will be 
on target to exceed 300 over the three year period. 

Invest up to £14 million to improve council homes 
 
 

Due to Covid19, there have been period of time when work streams 
have been put on hold or reduced.  It is anticipated approximately 
300 components such as kitchens, bathrooms, boilers will be 
replaced during the year at a value of £1.47m 

 

  

47



 

Support for businesses and helping people into local jobs 

Our aims 

Match local people with skills and jobs – Support new and growing businesses to create jobs – Help young people into work 
 

Key tasks 2020-21 Quarter 3 Performance 

Working in partnership with the National Forest Company, carry out 
an options appraisal for Moira Furnace as part of an application for 
Resilient Heritage funding to the Heritage Lottery Fund 
 
 

The options appraisal for Moira Furnace has commenced.  An 
interim report is scheduled for end of January 2021 with the final 
report due at the end of quarter four. 

Provide targeted support for local business who may be impacted 
by HS2 
 
 

No HS2 updates have been issued government to update local 
business in Quarter 3 

Deliver the aspirations of the North West Leicestershire Economic 
Growth Plan 2019-21 
 
 

The key focus of the Economic Development team has shifted from 
the Economic Growth to the Economic Recovery plan during the 
Coronavirus pandemic.  
However, there are similar project outputs in both plans. In Q3 the 
council delivered a virtual jobs fair that ran from Tuesday 6 October 
to Monday 12 October. 44,000 responded to event with 701 job 
seekers visited the jobs fair. 
Throughout the pandemic the council have maintained a front line 
business support service to ensure that local businesses and start-
up business can access the advice, support and funding available.  

48



Work to support women into business has continued. 15 women 
have remained active in the support programme and three have 
gone on to secure grant funding to support their business. 
We also continue to support local businesses to respond to the 
challenges of EU Exit and we continue to support and attract new 
businesses to invest in North West Leicestershire. 
We are also progressing activities which will identify new business 
opportunities in the Tourism Sector such as the Moira Furnace 
Options Assessment. 

Working with our new leisure partner, increase local employment, 
training and apprenticeship opportunities with a key focus on local 
supply chains in the construction of the new Whitwick and Coalville 
Leisure Centre 
 
 

To date 32 local companies have been engaged and 10% of all 
materials required for the build have been sourced locally.  £620k 
has also been spent within the local economy.  This vital project will 
continue to inject vibrancy within the local economy throughout the 
build stages through to completion in July 2022. 

Work with food establishments to further reduce the number that 
have a hygiene rating of 0, 1 or 2 
 
 

During the various stages of the pandemic many food businesses 
have not been trading and food inspectors have been redeployed 
to carry out Covid-19 compliance work and but also supporting 
food outlets with takeaways and extending their licenced areas into 
open spaces to accommodate social distancing trading. The 
number of food businesses rated 0, 1 or 2 fell from 20 to 18 
between 1 April 2020 and 31 December 2020. 

Ensure that we minimise the negative impacts and maximise the 
positive of COVID19 on our business community 
 
 

The Councils Economic Development team have responded to 
over 1,000 unique enquiries since 13.03.20 – mainly regarding 
what financial assistance is available to local businesses in 
response to Covid19. This compares with 162 unique enquiries 
between 01.01.19 and 01.01.20.  New start-up 
business/expansions enquiries have also increased and the team 
have dealt with 138 start-up expansion enquiries since outbreak of 
the Pandemic in March. 

49



Play our part in readying our businesses for the effects of BREXIT 
 
 

Economic Development continue to provide advice and support to 
local business in readiness and response to EU Exit. The EU Exit 
webpage on council’s website is regularly refreshed and updated 
with the latest information to support businesses through the 
transition period and beyond. 
 
In Q3 the council hosted a virtual Business Breakfast alongside the 
East Midlands Chamber and Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership to inform and empower businesses with a range of 
topical themes including EU Exit, Coronavirus, economic Recovery 
& other business support. 
Officers also promote and showcase regional webinars and support 
sessions delivered by partner organisations such as BEIS, DiT and 
throughout October and November 2020. 
The council and the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise 
Partnership have, and continue to survey local businesses to help 
identify the particular challenges businesses are facing regarding 
EU Exit and to identify what support will be available for these 
businesses. 

Encouraging the public to support local businesses as part of our 
recovery from COVID19 
 
 

We have administered a programme of grant support to businesses 
impacted by Covid19. We have also instigated a project designed to 
promote the safety and economic benefits of shopping locally on the 
districts main shopping High Streets, using ERDF grant support. An 
Officer has been recruited on a short term contract to focus on this 
role in Coalville (Ashby already has a similar post funded by the 
Town Council) 

Progress against 2021/23 financial year Actions  

Maintain 12 apprentice placements each year 
 
 

We had 10 apprentices in place at the end of the quarter. This is 
slightly below our target. The COVID-19 pandemic has affected our 
capability to support apprentices across the organisation, as 
apprenticeships are more difficult to manage using remote working 

50



and supervising managers have been under pressure to deliver new 
COVID related work, and in some cases have been seconded to 
other work areas. However, we are actively developing new 
apprenticeship opportunities and we are optimistic we will bring this 
back up to target during Q4. 

Provide a £250,000 programme of grant funding and business 
support 
 
 

The Economic development are in the stages of finalise the last of 
the Enterprising 3 grants funding programme. Once completed 14 
businesses would have received over £170,000 of grant funding that 
levered over £1.2m of private sector match funding and will have 
created up to 70 new local jobs.  

Promote North West Leicestershire as a key location for business 
growth and support £1 million of new business investment and 4,000 
new jobs 
 
 

We continue to collaborate with Invest Leicester to promote North 
West Leicestershire as a destination for new inward investment.  
 
Work is ongoing to support the development and occupation at 
Junction 11 of the A42 with Jaguar Land Rover and DSV opening 
new facilities. An estimated 3,400 jobs will be created by these two 
occupiers. 
Work is also ongoing to support the investment at SEGRO including 
works with the new occupiers such as XPO, Very and Amazon and 
the prospective occupiers such as DHL/Mars and Gamesworkshop. 
An estimated 1,250 jobs will be created by DHL and 
Gamesworkshop. 
In Q3 the team also support Oakland International and the VFC 
Corporation to open new operations on Bardon Industrial Estate. 
Over 250 jobs will be created by these two occupiers. 

Work with partners and public transport providers to enhance 
transport connectivity so local people can access new job 
opportunities throughout the district 
 
 

The Council continue to facilitate the EMEG Access to Work 
Partnership. Support is ongoing for the new Airway 9 service 
connecting residents in Burton, Swadlincote and Ashby to the jobs 
and careers at East Midlands Airport and SEGRO.   

51



The Council have led the Access partnership in finalised a 2021 - 
2026 access strategy for the EMEG that builds upon the previous 
five years’ work of the partnership.  
Through the Transforming Cities fund, work is already underway to 
explore demand responsive transport solutions that serve the 
EMEG. 
In addition, we are working with the County Council LCC to bring 
about upgrades to the A511 which will improve journey times on 
the Coalville Bypass. 
We are delivering new cycle routes and improved bus stops in 
Kegworth and exploring opportunities for enhanced cycleway 
connection in Coalville. 

Work with three schools / colleges and local businesses on skills 
development with a focus on career advice 
 
 

The Pandemic has curtailed any physical presence in local schools 
and colleges for the past 11 months. As schools have had to 
concentrate on the academic curriculum, NWL has been working in 
partnership to ensure that all students have access to good quality 
careers advice through a number of mediums and by a number of 
partners. All schools have been sent a virtual offering summery 
stating all of the career resources available.  
 
NWL are actively encouraging our local businesses to get involved 
in schools and a number, including Marks and Spencer at Castle 
Donington; I M Properties (developer of Mercia Park) have 
contributed to videos and other materials to promote career 
opportunities across a variety of disciplines. 
In partnership with the LLEP and local businesses, including I M 
Properties and construction company, Winvic, we are developing 
virtual products for schools including virtual work experience in 
construction, together with live Question and Answer sessions. 
 
The LLEP are encouraging local businesses to allocate staff to 
become Enterprise Advisers (EA) who can help support pathways 
into different industries and shape young people’s futures.  Through 

52



the LLEP Enterprise Adviser Network companies are matched with 
local schools or colleges – we are actively encouraging local 
businesses to take part. 

Provide face-to-face business and environmental health advice to 
20 growing businesses each year 
 
 

This work-stream has not been delivered due to the other pressures 
on this work group supporting the pandemic response. 

Work closely with Kegworth Parish Council and other partners to 
engage the public and businesses and deliver a scheme that 
focuses on improving the village’s infrastructure, stimulating 
economic growth and supporting businesses. 
 
 

We continue to collaborate with Kegworth Parish Council and 
Kegworth Businesses to design and deliver public realm 
enhancements for the village. 

 

  

53



Developing a clean and green district 

Our aims 

Lead by example by reducing our own carbon footprint – Reduce littering and fly tipping – Promote the work of the National Forest 
 

Key tasks 2020-21 Quarter 3 Performance 

Increase recycling rates by at least 1% every year through our 
Recycle  more… campaign 
 
 

We are waiting for DEFRA to publish the recycling rates for 
2019/20, which should be published by the end of January 2021.  
Despite some collections such as garden waste, cardboard and 
food waste  having to pause during part of the year to cope with 
Covid-19 pressures, the following has been achieved: 

 The trial for weekly food waste collections resumed at the 
beginning of November 2020 and the trial was doubled from 
2,000 households to 4,000 households including areas in 
Coalville, Ravenstone and Whitwick.  

Up until 1 January 2021, since the original trial resumed and the 
new trial launched, 26.5 tonnes of food waste was collected and 
diverted from landfill for recycling. This represents a carbon saving 
of 19.9 tonnes. 

 A competition has been held for primary schools in the 
district to name our six recycling vehicles. The winners have 
been chosen and the names will appear on the vehicles at 
the end of January/early February 2021. Names include 
Bindiana Jones and Recyclosauras Rex. 

 Since battery recycling collections launched at the kerbside 
in December 2020, 3.3 tonnes have been collected and 
recycled, with the most recent collection taking place in 
December 2020. 

 An online survey on the council’s website is currently 
available regarding the mini recycling sites. The survey is 

54



asking residents, parish councils and members for their 
views as these sites as being reviewed as part of Recycle 
more 

 

 250 residents are trialling a recycling trolley and we have 
recently surveyed these residents asking for their feedback. 
Headlines from the survey include; 94% of residents find it 
easier to move the trolley to the kerbside compared to the 
red boxes and blue bags. In addition, 83% found there was 
a reduction in recycling escaping from the trolley causing a 
litter issue in contrast to the red boxes and bags. 

Since this trial, another recycling container system has come onto 
the market. Officers are intending to run a trial with another 250 
residents using this system.  
The intention is to ask some of the residents who are currently 
trialling the recycling trolley to trial the new system, so a 
comparison between the two can be established to see if the 
residents find one better than the other. We will also carry out 
focus groups with our waste operatives regarding both of the 
systems, to identify which one is the most practical when carrying 
out the kerbside recycling collections. The trial of the new recycling 
container system is due to take place by the end of March 2021.  

Continue our Free Tree Scheme 
 
 

We had planned to deliver the scheme in November 2020 but 
deferred it to February 2021 but following lockdown three we have 
taken the decision to launch the scheme in November 2021.  
Partners The National Forest Company are on board with this 
decision and the nursery trees will simply remain planted until they 
are needed later this year 

Support towns and villages to develop an identity associated with 
the National Forest 
 
 

We continue to work with the National Forest on the ‘Heart of the 
National Forest Masterplan’.  Progression of this work has been 
delayed due to COVID-19 and work is due to conclude in Q1 of 
2021. 

55



Phase one of the masterplan will be an inspiring and visual 
document which will engage and enthuse partners, landowners, 
businesses and local residents to collectively drive ambition and 
realise the potential of the area.  The Heart of the Forest covers 
the following towns/villages in our district: Albert Village, Ashby de 
la Zouch, Blackfordby, Donisthorpe, Measham, Moira and 
Oakthorpe. 

Support private householders to improve the energy efficiency of 
their homes and help those in greatest need to access Government 
grants for affordable warmth 
 
 

Year to date we had a promotion of the LCC Warm Homes Scheme 
in August including Updating the information our Customer Services 
Team have available to them and the information on Council 
webpages. We also sent out information through a range of forums 
including our Community Focus Team for distribution to Community 
Group contacts, the Landlord Forum and Landlord support group 
contacts. Information also distributed among key internal contacts 

Complete the installation of air source heat pumps in council homes 
and assess tenant satisfaction 
 
 

We are reaching the end of the original air source heat pump 
programme with 5 properties awaiting installation.  The tenants have 
asked for the installation to take place when current Covid19 
restrictions have been lifted.  There are a further 50 properties where 
the tenant has refused the installation and it will only be progress 
when the current heating system fails, or the property becomes 
empty. In total, 326 properties have benefitted from an air source 
heat pump being installed. 

Undertake feasibility studies for 4 EV charging points across the 
district 
 
 

We have completed electric vehicle (EV) charging point feasibility 
studies across 4 locations across the district and plan to complete 
installations at 3 of these locations (Whitwick, Thringstone & Castle 
Donington) by Spring 2021.  This activity is funded from the council’s 
climate change reserve (as approved by Cabinet) and a successful 
grant award from the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV).  A 
feasibility study has also been completed at Coalville but the car 
park is currently a Covid-19 testing station and this has temporarily 
delayed any further activity. 

56



Continue the delivery of our Zero Carbon Roadmap 
 
 

In September, we appointed a climate change programme manager. 
There has been a review of our zero carbon roadmap and 
engagement with council teams to identify, prioritise and build 
activity into team plans.  Our electricity is now 100% renewable.  We 
have a clear plan for expanding EV charging point activity (see 
above) and are developing our fleet management strategy.  We 
have expanded our food waste trial and are evaluating our 
greenhouse gas emission levels.  Housing is revising their asset 
management strategy to improve the energy efficiency of our 
housing stock.  Leisure Services is commissioning a cycling & 
walking strategy.  Planning is reviewing our Local Plan and 
considering climate change impacts, including renewable energy 
and building standards. 

Review our employee travel and allowances to help deliver the Zero 
Carbon Roadmap 
 
Not achieved 
 

This area of work will involve discussion and consultation with 
employees and trade unions to develop greener travel allowances, 
this work has been delayed to 2021/22. 

Progress against 2021/23 financial year Actions  

Support the Litter Strategy for England through our partnership 
working within the Roadside Litter Working Group 
 
 

No update at this stage 2021/23 future action 

Work in partnership with local haulage companies to tackle layby 
litter 
 
 

No update at this stage 2021/23 future action 

Achieve 50% recycling rates by 2023 
 

No update at this stage 2021/23 future action 

57



 

Reduce carbon emissions at the new Whitwick and Coalville Leisure 
Centre and Ashby Leisure Centre by 20% by 2024 
 
 

This is a longer term objective, so nothing to report at the current 
time. 

Replace lighting in NWLDC buildings with LED lighting to reduce 
energy consumption 
 
 

This work-stream was placed on hold due to the impact on resources 
available as a result of Covid-19 restrictions.  A programme will be 
developed for delivery in 2021/22 for all general needs blocks and 
be included in the sheltered scheme upgrade programme. 

Reduce vehicle emissions from licensed  Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire vehicles 
 
 

This policy will commence in September 2021. 

Help 250 fuel poor households to receive funding for loft and cavity 
wall insulation and replacement boilers 
 
 

We have partnered with E-on to undertake cavity wall insulation at 
76 council properties eligible due to the EPC rating being E or below.  
E-on have appointed a contractor to complete the work during 
Quarter 4. 
During 2020/21, 44 replacement boilers have been installed at 
council properties, including 4 full central heating replacements.  Of 
these 30 were completed during Quarter 3 including 3 full central 
heating replacements. 

 

 

 

 

58



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Value for Money 

It is our ethos to manage our budgets carefully and sensibly. This allows us to provide excellent value for money in our services; investing in key 
schemes and infrastructure that make a real difference in our communities, whilst balancing the books and planning for the future. 

 

Performance Indicator 2020-21  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Amount of income generation from the sale 
of Legal Services 

 

£18,859  £11,000 per 
month so 

£33,000 per 
quarter 

 
 

 

 

Legal Services income target for 20/21 is 
£130K and up to the end of period 9 income 
was £42.5k. During 20/21 the team have 
managed vacancies and due to COVID 19 
most of marketing opportunities such as 
conferences and training events were 
cancelled the income target for 21/22 has be 
reduced to a more realistic level at £80k. The 

59



team has recruited to the Legal Team 
Manager role and is revisiting its marketing 
strategy.  . Planning work (section 106’s and 
advice work for other Councils) continues to 
be a strong source of income for Legal 
Services making up £11,150 of the income 
over quarter 3. 
 
 

Percentage of rent loss 

 

0.87%  0.75% 
 

 

 

 

As at the end of Quarter 3 the amount of rent 
loss due to properties being empty was 
£117,748.91.  This is higher than target 
which is due to COVID19 restrictions on who 
could move home at the beginning of 2020 
and greater time being given to incoming 
tenants to move in. 

Amount of spend on agency workers is 
reduced to £1m in 20/21 

 

£1,058,913  £750,000 
 

 

 

 

Our ability to reduce our reliance on the 
temporary agency workforce has been 
significantly affected by the COVID-19 
situation and the various impacts of this on 
our permanent workforce. We will still seek 
to reduce the spend on agency employees in 
future years. 

Percentage of Council Tax Collected (in year 
target) 

 

91.1%  96.7% 

 

 

 

In year cumulative collection rate is down by 
0.2%.  

Council tax payers can now pay there 
charges over 12 months rather than 10 
months 

60



Percentage of National Non Domestic Rates 
(in year target) 

 
87.6%  99.20% 

   
In year cumulative collection rate is down by 
0.2%. 

Amount of days taken to process new claims 
 

 
17.7  18.7 days 

   
Cumulative average is 14.2 days (to exclude 
December) 

Percentage of rent collected from 
commercial tenants 

 

95.84% 
 

 98% 

 

 

 

This has been a challenging year for many 
small businesses; we continue to work with 
them through an array of grants and 
discounts. 

Percentage of commercial units occupied 
per annum 

 

86%  90% 

 

 

 

This has been a challenging year for many 
small businesses; we continue to work with 
them through an array of grants and 
discounts. 

Amount of annual income achieved by the 
In-house Repairs Team at  least £5.2 million 

 

£911,051.60 
 

 £1,300,000 

 

 

 

Delivery of the repairs and improvements 
services during the pandemic has required 
multiple changes to our working 
arrangements, in terms of both the work we 
can complete and the way we undertake it.  
This has included modifying our delivery 
plans during Lockdown to ensure we work in 
a way that is safe for both our staff and our 
tenants, by using Covid-19 safe systems of 
working.  These arrangements are not as 
efficient as normal working so productivity 
has reduced, and the amount of work we can 
complete has also been reduced as a result 
of some internal repairs and improvements 
having to be delayed.   
The impact of this is projected to be a revised 
total annual income of £3.53 million, with the 
cumulative position to the end of Q3 being 

61



£2.3 million.  This projection is based on the 
current Lockdown restrictions continuing for 
a majority of Q4. 

 

62



Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town 

Coalville is a vibrant town – Local people choose to spend their time and money in Coalville town centre  
 Coalville is a good place to do business 

 

Performance Indicator 2020-21  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of people attending Coalville events 
organised  

5000  9000 
 

 
 

COVID-19 has significantly impacted the ability to 
deliver events in 2020/21.  The annual target will 
not be achieved 

Number of events delivered in Coalville 
 

2  2 
 

 
 

COVID-19 has significantly impacted the ability to 
deliver events in 2020/21, however the annual 
target has still been achieved. 

Number of visitors/tourists spending is increased by 
2%  across the District  

0  2% 
   

COVID-19 has significantly impacted the 
tourism and hospitality sector, the spend 
increase will not be achieved this year 

Shop vacancy rates in the Belvoir Centre are more 
positive than the national average. 

 

21.8%  9.8% 

 

 

 

In Q3 Coalville town centre recorded 29 vacant 
units representing 14% of all shops.  
In Q3 the Belvoir centre recorded 12 vacant 
units representing 21.8% of all units in the 
centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

63



 

 

Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 

Put our customer sat the heart of all we do – Increase connectivity (physically and virtually) throughout our communities 
Support safer neighbourhoods 

 

Performance Indicator 2020-21  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of online accounts 
 

2130 
 

 5400 
(annual) 

   Above target with average of 710 per month 

Number of online forms submitted (transactions) 
 

7586  1875 
(monthly) 

   
Above target with 2528 per month, due to 
COVID-19 business grant forms 

Percentage of customer satisfaction  
(Customer Services) 

 

93.62  92% 

 

 

 

Overall satisfaction with customer services 
remains high despite no face-to-face 
interaction however, responses are low. If 
current model to continue, need to review 
questions and ways to obtain customers 
feedback.  

Percentage of high risk ASB cases recorded and 
actioned within 48 hours 

 

100%  100% 

 

 

 

This is a process item. All High case logged are 
actioned within 48hours (100%) Please note 
that High risk cases are rare and we only have 
small numbers. 

 

  

64



Local People live in high quality, affordable homes 

Increase the number of affordable homes in the district – Improve the quality of our council housing 
Improve the quality of private rented accommodation 

 

Performance Indicator 2020-21  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Percentage of major residential development 
schemes  scoring / performing positively 
 

 

100%  90% 

 

 

 

All major planning proposals are subject to 
consultation with the Council's Urban Designer 
who assesses the schemes objectively using 
Building for Life criteria and the Council's Good 
Design Supplementary Planning Document. 
All major planning proposals in this period 
have achieved a high quality design. 

Percentage of major planning applications 
determined within  13 weeks 
 

 

81.8%  75% 

 

 

 

Performance in determining major applications 
(e.g. greater than 10 dwellings and 1000 
square metres of commercial development) 
remains acceptable and in Q3 stood at 81.8% 
with 9 majors out of 11 determined within 13 
weeks or with an extension of time.  
Cumulatively, performance up to the end of 
quarter three was 87% with 34 out of 39 majors 
determined within 13 weeks or with an 
extension of time. This is significantly above 
the national performance target of 60% and the 
local performance target of 75%. 

Percentage of minor planning applications 
determined within  8 weeks 

 

92.8%  80% 

 

 

 

Performance on minor applications (e.g. less 
than 10 dwellings and 1000 square metres of 
commercial development) in Q3 remains 
strong and stood at 92.8% with 52 minors out 

65



of 56 determined within 8 weeks or with an 
extension of time. 
Cumulatively, performance up to the end of 
quarter three was 89% with 146 out of 164 
minor applications determined within 8 weeks 
or with an extension of time. This is 
significantly above the national performance 
target of 65% and the local performance target 
of 80%. 

Percentage of other planning applications 
determined within  8 weeks 

 

95%  85% 

 

 

 

Performance on other applications (e.g. 
householder developments) remains strong 
and in Q3 stood at 95% with 114 out of 120 
applications determined within 8 weeks or with 
an extension of time. 
Cumulatively, performance up to the end of 
quarter three was 95 with 331 out of 348 
applications determined within 8 weeks or with 
an extension of time. This is above the national 
performance target of 80% and the local 
performance target of 85%. 

Percentage of all repairs completed within target 

 

97%  94% 

 

 

 

Although the demand for repairs fell 
substantially during the first 6 months of the 
pandemic, demand for repairs during Q3 had 
returned close to levels recorded during the 
corresponding period over the past 2 years. 
For context 2,116 repairs were completed in 
Q3.  Considering the reduction in productivity 
to maintain Covid-19 safe systems of work this 
is a good result for the team. 

Average length of time taken to re-let a Council 
property when it becomes vacant 

 
32  22 

 
   

Performance has not achieved the target as 
we have applied flexibility to tenancy start 

66



dates for tenants to move home due to Covid-
19 restrictions.  At the beginning of 2020/21, 
people could not move home unless they were 
in an emergency housing situation resulting in 
some homes being left empty for longer than 
normal.   The standalone performance for 
December was 24 days which was an 
improvement of 15 days compared with the 
preceding month, evidencing that performance 
is improving again. 58 properties were let 
during the quarter averaging 32 days. 
The cumulative performance is 36 days with 
187 properties being let since the beginning of 
the financial year. 

 

  

67



Support for businesses and helping people into local jobs 

Match local people with skills and jobs – Support new and growing businesses to create jobs – Help young people into local work 
 

Performance Indicator 2020-21  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of jobs in the tourism sector is increased in 
the  District 
 

 

0  3.8% 
 

 
 

COVID-19 has significantly impacted the 
tourism and hospitality sector, the ‘number of 
jobs’ increase will not be achieved this year 

Number of food businesses improving hygiene 
standards 
 

 

-  11 

 

 

 

The number of programmed food hygiene 
inspections undertaken has been significantly 
impacted by the covid19 pandemic. During 
periods of the pandemic many food 
businesses have not been trading and food 
inspectors have been redeployed to carry out 
covid19 compliance work. The enhanced 
programme of support targeted at those 
businesses with a rating of 0,1 and 2 has been 
suspended. The number of food businesses 
with a poor hygiene rating (0,1,2) fell from 20 
to 18 between April and December 2020 

Number of business enquires received and 
supported 
 

 

46  25 
 

 
 

These are non-covid19 related business 
enquires. 

Value of Coalville shop fronts grant awards 
  

£0  £40,000 
 

 
 

The 7 frontage projects remain in the 
development phase. No grant awards made in 
Q3. 

Number of businesses supported - Market Towns 
business support programme 

 
0  20 

   
The last grant award was made in the summer 
of 2020. This scheme has been delayed to 

68



 coincide with the market traders relocating 
from the current market hall to Newmarket. 

 

69



Developing a clean and green district 

Lead by example by reducing our own carbon footprint – Reduce littering and fly tipping – Promote the work of the National Forest 

 

Performance Indicator 2020-21  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of trees delivered to the local community to 
expand  the district's National Forest area 

 

0  13,000 

 

 

 

Planned to deliver the scheme in November 
2020 – delayed until February 2021 – now 
taken the decision to defer until November 
2021 due to covid19. 

Percentage of fly tipping in district is reduced by 3% 
over the year 

 
- 

(reduction) 
 3% 

(reduction) 
   Figure not due until Q4. 

Percentage increase on yearly recycling rate by 1% 

 

This will be 
reported in 

Q4* 

 1% 

 

 

 

*This information will be reported in quarter 
four using a nationally recognised data source 
from DEFRA, which is published annually and 
should be confirmed by the end of January 
2021. 

Amount in kgs of household waste sent to landfill 
per house,  per year 

 

132.6kg’s  125kgs 

 

 

 

Above the target, however due to people 
following Covid-19 stay at home guidance, 
more waste is being generated in a residential 
setting as more people are working from home. 
Those people who are not of working age are 
also staying at home more due to the current 
pandemic. Also, additional waste is generated 
over the Christmas and New Year period. 
Therefore, we provide households with either 
one or two additional domestic waste 
collections in place of garden waste 

70



collections, as they were suspended during 
this period. 

 

 

 

Performance Indicator 2020-21  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of targets achieved 
 

 12  32    A challenging period due to Covid-19 

Number of targets within 5% variance of target 
(10% financial) 

 5  0  
 

 Some targets have been deferred until 2022 
by agreement of heads of service 

Number of targets Not achieved  15  0    Mainly due to more people working from 
home and shops being closed due to Covid-

19 

  

71



  

Sickness Report Q3 2020-21  
1.1 In Q3 (2020/21) there were 881 FTE days lost due to sickness – compared with the same period last year this is 424 FTE days fewer. 

This equates to 1.82 days lost per full time equivalent employee (FTE).  

 
1.2 Projecting ahead, using Q1, Q2 and Q3 results, the annual absence rate will be 5.52 days lost per FTE against a corporate target of 8.0 

days. As was the case in the previous 2 quarters, the rate of sickness reporting was significantly lower in this quarter as a result of the 

Covid-19 measures taken by the council.  

 
1.3 Absence due to Covid-19 is not included in the sickness figures unless the employee tested positive. This approach is in line with NJC 

guidance. In order to limit the spread of this virus, covid related sickness continues to be recorded as non-sickness absence until the 

employee tests positives. As a result, sickness cases are under reported in this quarter, however this measure is deemed necessarily to 

ensure employees isolate and book in for a test as soon as they experience symptoms without the threat of the absence affecting their 

sick pay entitlement. 

 
1.4 Community Services (2.71 days/FTE), Housing (1.83 days/FTE) and HROD (1.80 days/FTE) were the work areas with the highest levels 

of sickness in this Quarter.  

 
1.5 The teams with the highest levels of sickness include, Waste Services accounting for over 34% of all sickness, this was followed by 

Housing Repairs (13%) and Environmental Protection (10%).  

 
1.6 The most common reason for sickness across the organisation was Musculoskeletal – 32% of all sickness, this was followed up by non-

work related stress (19%); and stomach/gastric related illness (11%). As expected, the share of cold and flu related sickness has 

increased in the quarter, accounting for 9% of sickness.  

 
1.7 Due the nature of the roles, 56% was all sickness in Housing Repairs and 40% in Waste Services were Musculoskeletal related. Winter 

related sickness was the second most common reason in these areas – 21% for Housing Repairs and 18% for Waste Services.  

 
1.8 10 employees reported sick due to Covid-19, all of whom have now returned to work.  

  

72



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.9 Organisationally long term sickness accounted for 70% of all sickness. There were 31 long term cases of sickness, of which, all but 3 

have returned back to work, either full-time or on a phased return, or left the employment of the council. The Senior HR advisors closely 

monitor and manage long term cases in conjunction with Occupational Health and their line managers. Where needed, employees have 

been referred to our Employee Counselling and Advice Line. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Absence Reason 
Percentage of sickness 
by reason 

Back pain - sprain - strain - musculo- skeletal 32.47 

Stress - depression - anxiety - psychological (non-work related) 18.64 

Stomach - bowel - gastric - intestinal 11.43 

Cold and Flu 8.79 

Covid 19 - Positive Test 8.17 

Stress - depression - anxiety - psychological (work related) 6.98 

Operation / Post Op 6.48 

Ear nose & throat - dental 1.84 

Headache - migraine - neurological 1.74 

Debility - fatigue 1.42 

73



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  

74



 
 
 

Customer Feedback 
 
The Housing Ombudsman has recently launched a Complaint Handling Code to support effective complaint handling and 

prevention alongside learning and development. A self-assessment undertaken in November 2020 has confirmed the Housing 

Service at North West Leicestershire District Council is fully compliant with the current requirements set out in this code. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Compliments: Compliments were received by the following service area as follows: 

October: 26 

 Building Control and Land Charges 

 Customer Services 

 Environmental Health 

 Housing Commercial Services 

 Housing Assets and Property 

 Housing Management 

 Housing Strategy and Systems 

 ICT 

 Leisure Services 

 Waste Management 

November: 17 

 Customer Services 

 Environmental Protection 

 Housing Commercial Services 

75



 Housing Assets and Property 

 Leisure Services 

 Policy and Performance 

 Waste Management 

 

December: 17 

 Cultural Services 

 Customer Services 

 Environmental Health 

 Housing Commercial Services 

 Housing Assets and Property 

 Housing Management 

 Housing Strategy and Systems 

 Waste Management 

 

Complaints: 

The stage 1: Complaints figures were as follows: 

October: 10 

November: 16 

December: 5 

There was a steady response time rise in this quarter, November saw Waste Management receive five complaints all of which were             

responded to within the 10 days period. 

The stage 2:  Complaints figures were as follows: 

October: 1 

76



November: 2 

December: 1 

An ongoing complicated tenant issue was responsible for the low response time in November which took time to investigate, the tenant was                                  

kept informed with holding letters until the final response was issued. 

 In December there was one stage 2 which ran over the time threshold by three days, the complainant was kept informed at all times. 

 

 MP enquiries responded to within 10 days: 

October: 21 

November: 13 

December: 12 

Several complicated enquires led to the lower response time percentage in October and November, the maximum response time was 18      

days. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

77



 
 
 
 
 
 
Customer Feedback Graph 
 

78



 

 

 

  
  

79



Customer Services Call Centre Statistics  
 
Q3 for 2020-21 saw the customer service team improve our percentage answered as compared to 2019-20 by just under 2% (1.93% actual).  We 

also saw an improvement on the speed to answer, with an average of 200 more calls per month being answered in 30 seconds compared to the 

same quarter last year. 

In addition, we saw a huge improvement in the abandoned statistics with Nil being recorded for this period compared to an average 6.89% 

abandoned during October to December 2019. 

However, whilst our waiting time increased fractionally by 0.03 seconds from 00:34 to 00:37, this is still a significant result given our average call 

handling time has increased from 04:17 minutes to deal with a call to 05:01 minutes.  This can be attributed to the complexity of some of the calls 

due to COVID-19. 

Also due to the currently pandemic situation, we do not have any customer waiting times face to face as we have not been open for the public to 

walk in since 25th March 2020 hence there is no date. 

 

80



Customer Services Call Centre Statistics Graph

 

81



 

 

Finance 

General Fund Annual Budgeted Position Q3 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from P7 

Budgeted Contribution 
to/(from) Reserves 

£630,000 £224,000 £407,000 £914,000 

The forecast position on General Fund for 2020/21 is now a surplus for the year of £224,000, compared to a budgeted surplus of £630,000.  There have been 
adverse variances due to COVID of £730,000 (net of emergency funding) and non-COVID favourable variance of £324,000. Explanations of significant 
variances are detailed below: 
 
COVID Variances: 

 Emergency grant funding of £1.36 million (plus £42,000 in 2019/20) has been received from Government for the COVID-19 Local Support 
Grant and £130,000 New Burdens Funding; 

 Additional costs in relation to Office Furniture, IT equipment and licences of £170,000 to enable home working for all council employees; 

 Net Income losses of £1.2 million in relation to Grounds Maintenance, Recycling Income, Trade Waste Coalville Market, Pay and Display 
Income, Planning Fees, Summons and Investment Income.  It is forecasted that £565,000 (£159,000 has been received) of these losses 
will be covered by the Government’s Income Compensation Scheme.  Compensation is received for eligible losses whereby compensation 
is received for 75% of losses for eligible income losses after deducting 5% of the budgeted amount; 

 £517,000 of the budgeted £570,000 of Journey to Self Sufficiency savings will not be achieved as responding to the pandemic diverted 
resources away from this important corporate programme; 

 Additional costs to deliver the refuse and recycling service in line with COVID restrictions and dealing with the additional recycling materials 
after collections reconvened of £471,000 in additional staffing and agency costs and £106,000 for hiring of additional costs to allow social 
distancing, offset against fuel savings due to the drop in the price of oil of £52,000 and reduced maintenance of £21,000; 

 £463,000 of additional support to Everyone Active, we have submitted a bid to DMS for the Leisure Recovery Grant and we forecast to 
receive £209k, however this is still to be confirmed; 

 £151,000 additional premises costs for alternations, security and additional cleaning; 

 £85,000 support to Parish Councils; 

 £95,000 on additional communications with residents; 

82



 £218,000 in additional staffing costs for the community hub and administering the business support grants; and 

 Savings of £207,000 of the repairs on maintenance budget for the council properties as the work has been able to be completed.   
 

Other (Non-COVID) Variances: 

 Non-budgeted expenditure in relation to the sale of Cropston Drive of £48,000; 

 Increase in the Leisure management fee of £116,000; due to the 1 year delay in the construction of the new leisure centre; 

 Overspends within waste services of £75,000 due to the pay award, vacancy target not being achieved and additional non schedule 
maintenance costs;  

 £40,000 forecast budget allocation for legal fees in relation to Coalville Market; 

 £50,000 of lost income in relation to the investment properties due to vacant units; 

 £110,000 of savings identified through a targeted review of key budget lines; 

 £70,000 of savings within car parking and maintenance following the sale of the three car park and vacant posts within the team; 

 £60,000 saving due to the contribution to Leicestershire County Council for supporting families no longer required; 

 £165,000 of savings within the planning team as a result of the delay in HS2 and reduction in appeals/technical support; 

 £110,000 of savings with planning policy in relation to the Growth Plan and Local Plan; 

 £200,000 reduction in budget in relation to additional income for admin grants, partnership savings, reduction in rent rebates and 
allowances and hardship payments. 

 
Funding 

 
Due to the way Business Rates is accounted for, there will be a significant surplus in 2020/21 that will need to be carried forward into 2021/22 to offset the 
impact of the deficit that would otherwise occur as a result of the accounting arrangements for the COVID-19 reliefs granted by government to businesses 
during the pandemic.  Smaller amounts are also carried forward into 2022/23 and 2023/24 to cover the deficit spread in these years.  A contribution to Business 
Rates Reserve to fund future deficit and safeguard against volatility will be made of £5 million. Reserve. 
 
There is also Local Tax Income Compensation for Business Rates and Council Tax of £235,000. 

Housing Revenue Account Annual Budgeted Position Q3 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from P7 

Budgeted Surplus/(Deficit) £2,779,000 £2,414,000 £366,000 £221,000 

83



Forecast surplus on the HRA has now slipped down to £2.4 million compared to the budgeted position of £2.8 million. The movement since P7 is largely the 
affect of the latest set of national restrictions on our inhouse repair team as some work in tenants’ homes in paused. 

COVID Variances: 

 An effect of the pandemic has reduced the amount of work our in-house repairs team can complete in properties, reducing the forecast 
surplus for the year by £1.1 million.  A consequence of the reduction in repair work means forecast expenditure on repair budgets is 
expected to be £621,000 lower than budgets.  

 Some staff were redeployed to working on Covid-19 response activities, which resulted in £140,000 of savings as staff costs were 
transferred from the HRA to the general fund.  

 Expenditure on minor property adaptations has fallen by £30,000 due to a backlog of assessments at the county council level. 
 

Other (Non-COVID) Variances: 

 There has been no expenditure on painting during 2020-21, saving £150,000. 

 Forecast income is £103,000 below budget due to higher than anticipated right to buy sales in the last quarter of 2019-20, which reduces 
rental income in 2020-21.   

Special Expenses Annual Budgeted Position Q3 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from P7 

Budgeted Contribution 
to/(from) Reserves 

(£35,000) £24,000 £59,000 £2,000 

The Special Expenses forecast outturn for 2020/21 is £606,000 net expenditure, compared to the budget of £667,000.  The net cost of Special Expenses is 
funded through Council Tax and Localisation of Council Tax Support Grant.  Any over-spend is funded from Special Expenses Reserves.  The forecast 
position of a surplus of £24,000 will be a contribution to reserves, compared to the budgeted deficit of £35,000 (that was planned to be funded through 
reserves). 

General Fund  Capital 
Programme 

Revised Budgeted Position  Q3 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from P7 

Budgeted Expenditure £10,817,000 £10,671,000 £146,000 (£79,000) 

84



By the end of quarter three we spent £5.6 million and the current forecast expenditure for the year is now £10.7 million, against a forecast position at period 
7 of £10.3 million. The majority of the spend up to the end of quarter three (£3.8) million and forecast outturn (£8.2 million) is in relation to the new build leisure 
centre in Coalville. Other significant areas of expenditure include the Disabled Facilities Grants, New Market Provision, the new telephony system at the 
council offices, fleet (sweeper & tractor), the installation of electrical vehicle charging points, welfare facilities at Linden Way Depot and Marlborough Square. 

Housing Revenue Account  
Capital Programme 

Annual Budgeted Position Q3 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from P7 

Budgeted Expenditure £12,907,000 £7,514,000 £5,393,000 £704,000 

The HRA Capital Programme has been negatively affected by the pandemic which has resulted in disruption to some programmes. The Home Improvement 
Programme has seen the largest reduction in forecast, with forecast outturn now expected to be £1.47 million, which is £2.4 million lower than budget. 
Expenditure on New Supply is forecast to be £1.2 million under budget and the estate improvement programme is another £891,000 under budget. The new 
housing IT system has run £319,000 over budget as the original go-live date for the new system has had to be postponed. 

Of the £5.4 million forecast underspend, £3.5 million has been identified to be carried forward into future years capital programmes, including the £2.4 million 
in Home Improvement Programme works, £359,000 in estate improvement projects, £490,000 in fire risk remedial works and £230,000 for improvements to 
sheltered housing. 

 

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 

 

All Council priorities are covered by this report 

Policy Considerations: 

 

Measurements are made against the Council Delivery Plan 

actions.. 

Safeguarding: 

 

No specific considerations. 

85



Equalities/Diversity: 

 

No direct impacts 

Customer Impact: 

 

As detailed in the report 

Economic and Social Impact:  

 

As detailed in the report 

Environment and Climate Change: 

 

As detailed in the report 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 

 

No direct impacts 

Risks: 

 

No specific risks.. 

Officer Contact 

 

Bev Smith Chief Executive 

bev.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

Mike Murphy Head of Human Resources and Organisation 

Development 

01530 454518 

mike.murphy@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

86

mailto:bev.smith@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:mike.murphy@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

 

87



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Minutes
	5. Items for Inclusion in the Future Work Programme
	Committee Work Programme
	Latest Executive Decision Notice
	Plan


	6. 2020/21 Quarter 3 Performance Reports

